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MISSION AND VISION STATEMENTS 
 

 

 

 

Our Mission 

To enhance market competition, creating more 

economic opportunities for the benefit of all 

Mauritians 

 

 

 

 

 

Our Vision 

An impactful institution within the Mauritian 

economy,  shaping business landscape and 

driving economic progress through the force of 

competition
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VICE-CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD 
 

 

As the Competition 

Commission enters its 

10th year of activity 

within the regulatory 

and economic 

landscape in Mauritius, 

it gives me great 

pleasure to present our 

Annual Report for the period 2018/2019.  In the 

pages that follow, our readers – our businesses, 

consumers, and stakeholders – will have the 

opportunity to revisit the key moments and 

highlights of the year that has gone by.  It has 

been another significant year of work at the 

Competition Commission with the culmination 

of the Commission’s decisions following its 

Resale Price Maintenance Amnesty Programme; 

the spearheading of the Law Review Project; and 

the handling of our daily staple through 

casework and advocacy in driving a competitive 

Mauritius. 

In 2017, the Commission made use of its 

statutory prerogative of granting immunity to 

enterprises with the objective of effectively 

tackling a pervasive anticompetitive practice – 

resale price maintenance (RPM) rooted within 

supplier/reseller commercial dealings across 

Mauritius.  Whereas our consumers expect 

resellers to compete for their attention and 

outdo rival resellers on the market by offering 

them best possible deals/most attractive 

discounts; little did consumers know that so-

called deals and discounts offered to them were 

a mere mirage of the competitive process.  

Prices are likely to have been artificially inflated 

across thousands of products following 

distributors’ pricing directives and at times, 

punitive measures to gain resellers’ strict 

compliance.  The Competition Commission’s 

RPM Amnesty Programme was tailor-made to 

cover all forms of RPM conduct, past and 

present; irrespective of whether such conduct 

was supplier-induced or retailer-driven.  Much  

effort and resources went into the design and 

dissemination of this Programme, which 

ultimately garnered a total of 102 amnesty 

applications.   

As pleased as we were with the results of the 

RPM Amnesty Programme; the greater 

challenge was to deliver upon amnesty 

applicants’ expectations, giving them legal 

certainty over their past conduct, while 

efficiently restoring genuine competition among 

retailers to the benefit of consumers.  I am 

pleased with the way the Executive Director and 

his staff rose to the challenge of the increased 

workload by putting in place the relevant 

processes to streamline and complete, within 

the set timelines, their reviews of the 

applications received; thus, ensuring timely 

submission of the Reports thereon to the 

Commission for its determination.  Between 

January 2019 and June 2019 respectively, the 

Commission delivered its decisions in three 

batches; issuing 24 decisions in the first batch, 

39 decisions in the second batch and 4 decisions 

in the third and final batch.  The Commission 

proceeded expediently in determining the 

applications before it.  It is worth highlighting 

that about a third of the applications brought 

before us came from firms featuring in the Top 

100 Companies in Mauritius.  Nearly 50% of 

enterprises reported being engaged in multiple 

forms of RPM conducts - whether in commercial 

contracts, or email communications subjecting 

wholesale discounts to compliance with 

supplier-determined retail prices, or on product 

lists issued to retailers, or improper price labels 

on product packaging.  In the wake of our 

Amnesty Programme and the measures adopted 

by the applicant-suppliers/resellers to address 

concerns identified from their reported 

conducts, the Commission is confident that the 

trading community would be weary of 

conducting their business negotiations in 

compliance with the provisions of the law;  
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VICE-CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD (Contd.) 

  
thereby, ensuring that the forces of competition 

operate free from artificial distortions. In 

addition to our RPM Amnesty decisions, the 

Commission, during the year under review, also 

issued two merger decisions affecting the retail 

supply (INV046) and insurance (INV047) sectors.  

It is commendable that the merging parties in 

the two cases voluntarily notified their intended 

transaction to the Competition Commission and 

offered undertakings to allay the competition 

concerns identified during investigation.  Pro-

active engagement on the part of businesses to 

embed competition norms within their merger 

transactions, despite the absence of a 

mandatory notification regime, not only assists 

in a collaborative and faster resolution of the 

case but ensures that adequate safeguards are 

put in place ex-ante to protect the market 

dynamics.  Thus, in INV046, which concerned a 

horizontal merger involving Pick and Buy Ltd 

(operating the ‘Winner’s’ retail chain) taking 

over its direct competitor, Shoprite (Mauritius) 

Ltd’s retail activities; the Commission accepted 

undertakings to ensure that consumers were 

not worse off post-transaction from increased 

prices, lower service quality or reduced 

convenience.  The acquirer undertook to 

continue operating, until expiry of the lease 

agreement,  the target’s retail outlet (in addition 

to its own retail supermarket) situated in Port 

Louis with sufficient product offers, adequate 

service levels and no less favourable pricing 

offers than Pick and Buy Ltd’s national pricing 

policy.  In INV047, the Commission conditionally 

cleared Eagle Insurance Ltd’s 30% share 

acquisition in Medscheme (Mtius) Ltd, a third-

party medical scheme administrator.  Mindful of 

the transaction’s pro-competitive potential in 

terms of market innovation, the Commission 

rendered binding upon parties their 

commitments towards implementation of 

adequate firewalling to prevent the acquirer 

from accessing commercially sensitive data on  

the target’s client base.  An additional 

undertaking was secured from the parties 

allowing the Competition Commission to access 

required information to verify and ensure that 

the proposed ring-fencing measures are working 

properly.  The Commission also intervened, by 

way of an advice to our parent Ministry, to 

protect the competitive process against the 

potential adverse effects flowing from the 

imposition of an import quota for processing-

grade pork intended to sustain local pig 

breeders’ business against the adverse impact of 

imported frozen raw pork on local production.  

The Commission recommended that the import 

quota be rescinded since its implementation 

may have artificially distorted the conditions of 

competition in the markets concerned to the 

detriment of local pig breeders themselves and 

ultimately, end-consumers.  The design of 

procompetitive regulations and policies while 

ensuring the attainment of desired social/public 

policy objectives is no meagre task.  Yet, it 

remains crucial that pro-competitive thinking 

complements the design of public policies and 

reforms.  Doing so ensures that we mitigate risks 

associated with inadvertently raising barriers to 

entry or expansion of firms; augmenting the 

risks of shielding less efficient firms; or 

protecting incumbents’ market dominance. 

On a different note, I wish to add that this year 

marks a turning point in our institution’s 

strategic direction and footprint as the 

Competition Commission purposefully gears up 

for revamping the Competition Act 2007, in line 

with international best practices.  No law is 

perfect they say and ours has served the 

competitive process and the Mauritian economy 

for nine years now.  As the Competition 

Commission gained in regulatory maturity over 

the years, certain wear and tear became 

perceptible and the need was felt for concrete 

changes as part of a process of continual   
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VICE-CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD (Contd.)  

improvement in building a robust and credible 

enforcement regime.  The groundwork has 

already begun, and stakeholder-engagement 

thereto has been encouraging.  We remain 

adamant at working hard to ensuring effective 

stakeholder consultation throughout our law 

review process and I am happy to note that we 

have received positive feedback on our 

approach thus far.  We look forward to the 

Competition Commission’s continual efforts as 

regulator and thought leader to stay at the 

forefront of trends that affect competition and 

sustain the efficacy of our country’s competition 

regime.   

The end of our financial year brings 

contemplation and reflection over the 

Competition Commission’s performance 

measured against set targets, our governance 

standards, our achievements, as well as areas 

where we could have better delivered for 

markets and consumers.  Every coming year also 

brings with it the promise of new priorities, 

initiatives, and targets to work towards in   

 
ALBERTO MARIETTE  
VICE-CHAIRPERSON 

fulfilling the mission entrusted to and the 

expectations placed upon us.  We are very much 

alive to the challenges that lie ahead and the 

limitations we face.  These, in my view, should 

only serve to inspire us further in speaking up 

and acting for the competition cause smartly, 

innovatively and flexibly in order to delivering 

high-quality work that makes a difference in our 

people’s everyday lives and that creates 

opportunities and choices for businesses and 

our economy.  They say a little progress each day 

adds up to big results.  I commend the year in, 

year out commitment and consistency of our 

competition team, whose efforts and actions are 

taking our markets step-by-step but surely 

forward.  My sincere appreciation also extends 

to my fellow Commissioners and Board 

members for their valuable contribution and 

support to the Commission’s work.  We look 

forward to the coming year and the concrete 

steps we are taking to build upon our 

capabilities for the future. 
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Year 2019 marks the 

10th year of competition 
law enforcement in 
Mauritius. 10 years that 
the Competition 
Commission has been 
enforcing the 
Competition Act by 
investigating and 

determining on restrictive business practices. 

The mandate of the Competition Commission 

however goes much beyond just investigating 

restrictive business practices and actually goes 

to the core of an effective marketplace. Through 

our enforcement activities, we make markets 

work. And when markets work, the economy 

thrives, and consumers are the ultimate 

beneficiaries.  

We believe that competition is a force to reckon 

with because it has the power to stimulate 

innovation, the power to boost economic 

growth and it can be a locomotive that powers 

progress.  

An economy characterised by healthy 

competition also grows quicker and creates 

more jobs, attracts more investments and 

increases the competitiveness of the country.  

A sound competition policy is therefore 

primordial for the country, the economy and the 

population. 

Keeping these in mind, and as part of its 10th 

year anniversary, the Competition Commission 

came up with a new corporate identity including 

a new logo, mission and vision.  

We aspire to be an impactful institution, which 

shapes business landscape and drive economic 

progress.  

The year under review was a fruitful year for the 
Competition Commission on the enforcement 
front. We carried forward 27 enquires, initiated 

26 enquiries and closed 35 of them. As for 
Investigations, we carried forward 12 
investigations, initiated 5 investigations and 
completed 8 of them. 
 
On a long-term basis, during the last 10 years the 

Competition Commission has generated 863 

complaints, 255 enquiries, 55 investigations and 

there have been 36 decisions and advices.   

Of the 53 investigations, 43% were on collusive 

agreements, 39% on unilateral conduct and 18% 

on mergers. One more salient fact is that of the 

36 decisions produced by the Competition 

Commission in the last 10 years, 58% of them 

are on the basis of undertakings received by 

parties.  

Undertakings are permitted under section 63 of 

the Competition Act 2007 and allows 

enterprises to allay the Executive Director’s 

concerns in an investigation. The result of which 

is that the investigative process is cut short and 

a workable solution is found to the restrictive 

business practice.  

One notable example where the Commission 

accepted undertakings was in the Hire Purchase 

market where a dominant enterprise gave 

undertakings to the Commission to amend its 

conduct of charging discriminatory discounting 

rates to different merchants, thus bringing 

benefits to consumers.  

The office of the Executive Director takes a 

pragmatic approach to undertakings. As long as 

the undertakings proposed satisfy the concerns 

arising out of the investigation, we would have 

no reason to protract matters and will conclude 

the investigation on the basis of undertakings, 

thus restoring competition in a short lapse of 

time. 

Advice to Government is another important part 

of our work. Advice is given under section 19 of 

the Competition Act 2007 and is issued by the  
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Commission to the Minister on any action taken 

or proposed to be taken by the State or any 

public body that may adversely affect 

competition in the supply of goods or services. 

One such advice given in the year under review 

is the advice on the removal of the import 

restriction on pork for processing purposes. In 

that case, the Commission has issued the advice 

that the condition to purchase an equivalent 

volume of local pork be abolished in order to 

allow unrestrained competition in the pork 

processing sector.  

 
The Competition Commission furthered its 

advocacy endeavours by advocating the 

provisions of the Competition Act with different 

stakeholders. The Competition Commission held 

4 advocacy sessions with different ministries 

and public bodies on the subject of bid rigging 

for public procurers. Being at the forefront of 

procurement in the public sector, public 

procurers are the ones who are able to detect 

first-hand, any signs of bid rigging. The advocacy 

sessions were aimed at educating public 

procurers about the tell-tale signs of a rigged bid 

and what to do when they have any suspicion of 

a rigged bid. 

Our collaboration with the Institute of Judicial 

and Legal Studies of Mauritius (IJLS) gathered 

momentum, with the Competition Commission 

proposing two different CPD sessions to law 

practitioners, one on abuse of dominance and 

one on mergers.  

Our advocacy outreach also targeted the major 

accountancy firms to sensitise them about our 

work on mergers. Since those firms are often 

involved in merger and acquisitions, our aim was 

to raise awareness about how the Competition  

 

 

 

Commission was an important component in the 

process of a merger and acquisition. The firms 

were made aware of the opportunity to seek 

guidance from the Commission on any 

impending merger and how seeking guidance 

may be beneficial to the merging parties in 

terms of regulatory certainty. The Competition 

Commission has streamed lined its processes 

regarding mergers and assures enterprises that 

it is mindful of the time sensitivity of mergers. 

Hence phase 1 assessments are done within 30 

days and if the merger warrants more in-depth 

assessment, then phase 2 is done within 6 

months of notification. 

Conscious of the fact that sector regulators are 

vital stakeholders, the Competition Commission 

enhanced its collaboration with regulators such 

as the Financial Services Commission, the Bank 

of Mauritius, the Procurement Policy Office and 

the Central Procurement Board amongst others. 

Such interactions are carried on as part of our 

MoU with those institutions.  

On the international front, we continued to be 

active by taking part in various teleconferences 

organised by the International Competition 

Network (ICN).  The Competition Commission 

took active part in the formulation of guidelines 

on restrictive business practices by COMESA 

Competition Commission (CCC). The interaction 

with the CCC as the supra-competition authority 

for the region is an important one as the 

authority starts its enforcement activities on 

restrictive practices such as cartels.  

As Vice-Chair of the African Competition Forum 

(ACF), the Competition Commission will host the 

4th ACF Cartel Working Group workshop in 

Mauritius in October 2019.  

  

 



ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 
9 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S MESSAGE (Contd.)  

 

Shaping business landscape and driving 

economic progress by creating more economic 

opportunities for the benefit of all Mauritians 

remains our guiding force. I am comforted by 

the fact that the staff of the Commission fully 

adhere to the mission and vision of the 

Competition Commission. Their hard work and 

dedication are praiseworthy and as an 

institution we will continue to invest in capacity 

building and welfare of our staff.  

With these words, I invite you to explore in this 

annual report, the work accomplished by the 

Competition Commission during the year under 

review.   

 

DESHMUK KOWLESSUR 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Following the publication of the new National 

Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius 

(the ‘new Code’) in the year 2016 and 

recommendations made therein, the 

Competition Commission embarked on a new 

challenge of improving its governing practices. 

In its endeavour to create a robust corporate 

governance framework, the Competition 

Commission has, during this financial year, 

established a Corporate Governance Committee 

and an Audit & Risk Committee which meet on a 

triannual and quarterly basis respectively. 

The eight Principles designed in the new Code 

are being gradually implemented, so that the 

Competition Commission becomes a more 

responsible, effective and accountable 

institution of the Republic of Mauritius, 

notwithstanding the provisions of the 

Competition Act 2007 (the ‘Act’) which regulate 

the conduct of Commissioners. 

In the absence of an internal control unit due to 

the small size of the institution, the parent 

Ministry and the Ministry of Finance and 

Economic Development (MOFED) have been 

solicited for support. We now have internal 

control exercises carried out by officers of 

MOFED.    

 

MANDATE OF THE COMPETITION 

COMMISSION 

The Act empowers the Competition Commission 

to promote and regulate competition among 

businesses, issue orders and directions to put 

defaulting enterprises on the right business 

track and ensure all benefits of fair competition 

result in improving consumer welfare and 

contributing to economic growth of Mauritius. 

 

 

THE INSTITUTIONAL SET UP OF THE 

COMPETITION COMMISSION 

The Act establishes the office of the Executive 

Director who is vested with investigatory 

powers and an adjudicative arm (the 

‘Commission’), consisting of a chairperson, a 

vice-chairperson and three (3) Commissioners  

as a decision-making body into reported 

restrictive business practices. 

The mandate of the Executive Director under 

the Act is to investigate restrictive business 

practices that distort markets. Primarily, the 

Executive Director is responsible for the day to 

day running of the Competition Commission 

and, with the support of staff under his control, 

he conducts investigations, market studies and 

organises advocacy campaigns.  

Under the Act, the Commission is vested with 

adjudicative powers to determine matters as 

reported to them by the Executive Director. The 

Commission, after hearing all parties involved, 

make decisions in their own deliberate 

judgment without fear, influence or favour. As a 

matter of precision, hearings are only 

mandatory under the Act as regards matters 

which require issuance of directions or 

imposition of financial penalties.  

 The Commissioners also sit as a board once 

monthly whereby they take cognizance of the 

updates from Executive Director on the day to 

day running of the Competition Commission, 

any strategic decisions taken by the Executive 

Director and approve the annual budget and 

matters regarding staff.  

As of note, the Commissioners have the duty to 

declare any actual or potential conflict of 

interest in any matter submitted to them for 

consideration and they do not participate in the 

deliberation thereof. 

Appointment of Commissioners and the 

Executive Director is made by the President of
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the Republic of Mauritius on the advice of the 

Prime Minister following consultation with the 

Leader of the Opposition. Commissioners hold 

office for a term of five years and not more than 

two consecutive terms in case they are re-

appointed. They are appointed by virtue of their 

qualifications and experience in law, economics, 

accountancy, or commerce and must comprise 

of people from the public and private sectors as 

well as from the academia. 

During their tenure of office, the Commissioners 

are provided with necessary trainings for them 

to be fully aware of their role and 

responsibilities. They had the opportunity to 

attend overseas workshops, conferences, and 

hearing sessions to reinforce their knowledge on 

competition matters and to help in the 

performance of their duties as Commissioners. 

It is worth mentioning, here, that in the exercise 

of their statutory duties and functions, neither 

the Executive Director nor any Commissioner is 

subject to the direction and control of each 

other, any person or authority. The terms and 

conditions of appointment, including 

remuneration, is determined by the Prime 

Minister’s Office and reviewed by the Pay 

Research Bureau during its pay review exercises. 

 

THE COMMISSIONERS  

Chairperson – vacant since 18 July 2018 

 

Mr. Alberto MARIETTE - Vice Chairperson  

Mr Mariette holds a ‘Diplôme d’Etudes 

Universitaires Générales (DEUG) en Sciences 

Economiques’ from Université de la Réunion 

and a ‘Maîtrise en Economie Internationale’ 

from Université Paris X. He has some 30 years’ 

experience in the retail sector and is currently 

the Human Resource and Project Director at 

Somags Ltée. Prior to that, he has occupied 

several senior positions, such as at Spar 

Mauritius of Rogers Group, ATELEC, the local 

agent of ALCATEL France, and Courts (Mauritius) 

Ltd. He was also the Chairman of SIT Leisure in 

2005. 

 

Me Candhayalallsing SEEBALUCK, CSK, - 

Commissioner 

Me. Seebaluck was admitted as Attorney in 1980 

to practice as attorney-at-law in Mauritius and 

was made  Senior Attorney in 2010. He was 

elevated to the rank of CSK on 12 March 2015. 

During his lengthy career as a legal practitioner, 

he has been the Attorney and Legal Advisor of 

several private clients, authorities, companies 

and federations, including amongst others the 

State Bank of India, the Truth and Justice 

Commission and the Ministry of Women’s Right, 

Child Development and Family Welfare as then 

was. He has also been the Secretary of the Rose 

Belle Sugar Milling Company and Mauritius Film 

Corporation, a member of the Cooperative 

Development Council and Cooperative Appeal 

Tribunal, and past Treasurer and President of 

The Mauritius Law Society, to which he is 

presently a member. 

 

Mrs. Vedwantee BIKHOO - Commissioner   

Mrs Bikhoo holds a Post Graduate Diploma in 

Educational Leadership and Management and a 

Degree of Bachelor of Education in Business 

Studies from the University of Mauritius, as well 

as a Teacher’s Diploma from the Mauritius 

Institute of Education. Mrs Bikhoo has been 

teaching Accounting at secondary schools level 

for the past 25 years. 
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Mrs. Mariam RAJABALLY, LLB, ACA. - 

Commissioner 

Mrs Rajabally holds an LLB from the London 

School of Economics and Political Science, and 

qualified as a Chartered Accountant (ACA) with 

Price Waterhouse Cooper, London. She 

specialises in the field of transaction advisory 

services including valuation services, corporate 

finance, transaction support services and 

restructuring. Mrs Rajabally also advises on local 

and international tax matters. She regularly 

conducts workshops and training on a number 

of accounting and tax topics. 

 

MEETINGS OF THE COMMISSION 

It is mandatory for the Commission to meet at   

 

least once a month for the effective discharge of 

its duties. Special and/or additional meetings 

can also be convened at any time, whenever 

deemed necessary. 

All necessary documents are circulated to the 

Commissioners prior to the meetings by the 

Secretary, so as to facilitate discussions and 

decision-taking during the meetings.  

At any meeting, a minimum of three 

Commissioners shall be present to constitute 

the quorum. The Commission met on thirteen 

(13) occasions for the year ending 30 June 2019. 

The table below shows attendance of 

Commissioners at Commission meetings and 

fees disbursed thereof for the year ending 30 

June 2019. 

 

SUB-COMMITTEES 

The Audit & Risk and Corporate Governance 

Committees are important pillars for the proper 

functioning of the Competition Commission in 

that they provide the necessary support and 

guidance to the Commission, as an entity, in 

fulfilling its statutory duties and responsibilities. 

They were established in light recommendations 

made by the National Corporate Governance 

Committee in its report in 2016. 

  

The Audit & Risk Committee is chaired by Mrs 

Mariam Rajabally, Commissioner and is assisted 

by Commissioners Mrs Vedwantee Bikhoo and 

Mr Alberto Mariette. This Committee meets on 

a quarterly basis and has met three (3) times this 

year. The terms of reference of the Audit & Risk 

Committee are: - 

1. assist the Commission in its oversight of the 

integrity of the financial reporting of the 

Competition Commission, 

 

 COMMISSIONER COMMISSION 
MEETINGS 
ATTENDED 

APPOINTMENT DATE FEES FOR YEAR ENDED 
30.06.19 

Mr Ariranga Govindasamy Pillay -          Rs 42,161.94 

Mr. Alberto Mariette 13 15th April 2016 Rs 1,309,354.84 

Mr. Candhayalallsing Seebaluck 12 15th April 2016 Rs 721,620.00 

Mrs. Mariam Rajabally 12 15th April 2016 Rs 721,620.00  

Mrs. Vedwantee Bikhoo 12 15th April 2016 Rs 721,620.00  
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including supporting the Commission in 

meeting its responsibilities regarding the 

preparation of the financial statements, 

financial reporting systems and internal 

controls; 

2. review, on behalf of the Commission, the 

findings of internal and external auditors 

and the adequacy of management’s 

response and actions to issues identified; 

3. provide input to the Commission in its 

assessment of risks and determination of 

risk tolerance of the Competition 

Commission; 

4. assist the Commission in its oversight of the 

risk management framework, monitoring 

the effectiveness and performance of 

procedures implemented to protect against 

and mitigate risks. 

The Audit & Risk Committee, principally, 

examined the quarterly Management Reports 

on expenditure and the Financial Statements for 

the year ending 30 June 2018. It also reviewed 

the internal control system and acted upon 

comments made by the National Audit Office in 

its Report for the year ended 30 June 2018.  

A Corporate Governance Committee has been 

constituted and is composed of Commissioners 

Me Candhayalallsing Seebaluck, as Chairperson,   

and Mr Alberto Mariette and Mrs Vedwantee 

Bikhoo as Members. The Committee has, during 

this year, worked towards the implementation 

of several recommendations made under the 

National Code of Corporate Governance.  

The terms of reference of the Corporate 

Governance Committee are: - 

1. to assist the Commission in its ongoing 

oversight of the quality of governance; 

2. to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of 

the Board of Commissioners; 

3. to make recommendations on all corporate 

governance provisions to be adopted so that 

the Board of Commissioners remains  

 

effective and complies with prevailing 

corporate governance principles; and 

4. to ensure that the reporting requirements, 

whether in the annual report or otherwise 

are in accordance with the National Code of 

Corporate Governance and other legal 

requirements. 

 

EXTERNAL AUDITING AND ACCOUNTING 

The Competition Commission ensures the 

preparation of the Annual Report, including the 

financial statements, for each financial year. The 

Annual Report is then submitted to the National 

Audit Office (NAO), which examines the financial 

statements and submits its report to the 

Commission.  

In its report, the NAO gives its opinion on the 

financial statements, and also make an 

assessment of the extent of compliance with 

relevant legislations such as the Statutory 

Bodies (Accounts and Audit) Act and the Public 

Procurement Act. 

The Commission, under the scrutiny of the Audit 

and Risk Committee, has always promptly 

addressed the recommendations of the external 

auditors.  

The Annual Report, which includes the audited 

financial statements and the audit report, is 

then laid on the table of the National Assembly 

through the Minister of Financial Services and 

Good Governance and is published on its 

website.
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RISK MANAGEMENT  

A proper risk management system enables 

organisations to proactively identify potential 

risks and apply well-defined strategies to avoid 

or mitigate exposure to risks. A description of 

the key risk areas is given below together with 

any relevant risk management policies. 

 

Reputational risk 

Negative perceptions of the institution’s 

conduct or practices may adversely impact on its 

work. It is always a risk that wrongful acts and 

doings of employees, Commissioners or the 

Executive Director may impact on the 

reputation of the Competition Commission. 

Certain provisions of the Act, the Human 

Resources Manual and the forthcoming Code of 

Ethics are strong safeguards to the reputation of 

the Competition Commission. 

 

Financial Risk 

Due to its specific characteristics and mandate, 

the Competition Commission, as a public sector 

entity, is not much exposed to financial risks, 

including credit, liquidity, foreign currency 

exchange and interest rate risk.  

 

Operational Risk Management 

Operational Risk Management is a methodology 

for organizations looking to put into place real 

oversight and strategy when it comes to 

managing risks. It is admitted that they cannot 

be entirely eliminated but at the level of the 

Competition Commission, every employee, 

Commissioner and the Executive Director are 

aware of the importance of containing and 

managing these risks.    

 

 

Legal Risk 

It is a fact that all business activities are exposed 

to legal risks due to non-compliance with laws 

related to the business. The Competition 

Commission, though not a profit-making 

organisation, is alert to the possibility of 

encountering serious claims of damages should 

it fail to measure and manage legal risks 

associated with the very nature of its duties and 

responsibilities. To circumvent such risks, 

external lawyers and the State Law Office are 

regularly solicited for assistance.   

 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Parties are considered to be related to the 

Competition Commission if they have the ability, 

directly or indirectly, to exercise significant 

influence over its financial and operating 

decisions-making process. 

The Government of Mauritius is considered to 

have some form of influence over the 

Competition Commission, more precisely over 

its financial decisions, given that the institution 

relies entirely on the Government’s grant.  

Key management personnel are those having 

authority over the activities of the Competition 

Commission, and it includes the Commissioners 

and Executive Director. The remuneration of key 

management personnel has been disclosed in 

the above table and in the notes to the Financial 

Statements. 

Relations with key stakeholders 

The Competition Commission has regular 

interactions with its key stakeholders in view of 

promoting and advertising the competition law 

and the activities of the Commission. This is 

described in detail in the “Outreach Initiatives” 

section of this Report. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (contd.) 

 

POLICIES AND PRACTICES REGARDING ETHICAL, 

HEALTH, SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

Ethics  

Commissioners, employees and the Executive 

Director of the Competition Commission are 

expected to conduct their work with 

professionalism, integrity and fairness. They are 

required to uphold the reputation of the 

organisation by treating clients and the general 

public in a helpful and courteous manner.  

The following measures are in place at the 

Commission: 

• A Human Resources Manual has been 

designed to guide employees on their 

conduct at and outside work, values and 

philosophy.  It also provides for procedures 

of disciplinary actions against employees 

for their misconduct. 

• A confidentiality code that provides 

guidelines when dealing with information. 

The Act makes further provisions, requiring 

the Commissioners, the Executive Director 

and every staff member not to disclose 

information  relating to the affairs of the  

Competition Commission, except in 

circumstances provided  in the Act; any 

contravention to those provisions shall 

cause the person concerned to be liable to 

a fine of a maximum of Rs 200,000 and to 

imprisonment for a term not exceeding 5  

years. In addition, they are required to sign 

an oath of confidentiality when joining the 

Competition Commission. 

• As per the Act, the Commissioners, the 

Executive Director and every staff member, 

are required, on a yearly basis,  to declare 

their assets and liabilities as well as those of 

their spouse and children, to the 

Independent Commission Against 

Corruption (ICAC). 

 

 

 

 

 

• The Act also provides for every member of 

the Competition Commission to disclose 

any interest he or she may have in any 

enterprise which is subject to the control of 

the Competition Commission. A 

Commissioner shall make a declaration of 

conflict of interests if he or she finds that he 

has interest, directly or indirectly, in an 

enterprise which has been investigated by 

the Executive Director or which is a party to 

a hearing. 

 

Health and Social 

The Competition Commission has a safety and 

Health Manual to ensure that the work 

environment contributes to the health, safety 

and welfare of the staff member. It also provides 

a fully funded medical and surgical insurance 

scheme as well as a 24-hour personal accident 

insurance cover. Recently, an annual medical 

check-up for staff had been introduced and  

ergonomic stands were provided to those using 

laptop. The Competition Commission also 

provides sponsorship to gym and other sports 

activities to promote healthy lifestyle as well as 

short-term soft loan scheme. 

Environmental 

The role of the Competition Commission as an 

enforcement body and the nature of its  

operation are considered to have minimal 

negative impact on the environment.  

 

Nonetheless, certain actions to preserve the 

environment are being taken, as follows: 

• printing of documents is kept to a minimum 

to reduce use of paper; 

• paper waste is recycled; and 

• gradual move to energy saving lights. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (contd.) 

 

STATEMENT OF THE COMMISSION 

Responsibility on the Financial Statements 

The Statutory Bodies (Accounts and Audit) Act 

requires boards to prepare Financial Statements 

for each financial year, which fairly present the 

state of affairs of the organisation as at the end 

of the financial year.  

The Commission acknowledges its 

responsibilities for:  

• keeping proper accounting records, which 

disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any 

time, its financial position; 

• safeguarding its assets, designing, 

implementing and maintaining effective 

internal controls relevant for the 

preparation and presentation of financial 

statements that are free from of material 

misstatements; 

• making reasonable and prudent 

judgments and estimates in preparing its 

financial statements; 

• ensuring that its financial statements are 

prepared in accordance with the 

International Public Sector Accounting 

Standards (IPSAS) issued by the 

International Public Sector Accounting  

Standards Board (IPSASB), a Board of the 

International Federation of Accountants 

(IFAC); and 

• ensuring that the financial statements 

have been prepared on a going-concern 

basis and the accounting policies have 

been applied consistently throughout the 

period.  

The Commission has complied with the above 

requirements and the relevant statutes as 

regards the preparation of the financial 

statements which give a true and fair view of its 

assets and liabilities.  

National Code of Corporate Governance for 

Mauritius 

During this year, the Competition Commission, 

being a statutory body has embarked on the 

application of the eight corporate governance 

principles designed by the National Committee 

on Corporate Governance (NCGG) and included 

in the National Code of Corporate Governance 

for Mauritius 2016.  Accordingly, it is on record 

that procedures for appointment of 

Commissioners and the Executive Director are 

consistent, as aforesaid, with provisions of the 

Act. In addition, the recruitment of a Legal 

Secretary to assist the Commission, the setting 

up of a Corporate Governance Committee and 

an Audit & Risk Committee, ongoing procedures 

to finalise a code of ethics, routine yearly 

accounting control exercised by the National 

Audit Office on the Commission, issuance of 

annual reports and submission of same to the 

Minister of Financial Services and Good 

Governance in a timely manner as per provisions 

of the Act and exercises of internal control, in 

the absence of an internal control unit, by the 

Internal Control Unit of the Ministry of Finance  

and Economic Development are evidence of 

high importance given to and interest in 

implementing recommendations of the NCGG.     

Throughout the year ending 30 June 2019, to the 

best of its knowledge, the Commission has 

partially complied with the Corporate 

Governance Code for Mauritius, pending the full 

implementation of the remaining few 

recommendations.  
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW  
 

The Executive Director of the Competition 

Commission is mandated and empowered under 

the Competition Act 2007 (the ‘Act’) to 

investigate restrictive business practices set out 

under Part III of the Act. Part III of the Act caters 

for four main types of anticompetitive practices: 

collusive agreements (which are prohibited), 

other restrictive agreements, abuse of 

monopoly situations and mergers that result in 

the substantial lessening of competition. Where 

the Executive Director receives a complaint or 

otherwise becomes aware that a restrictive 

business practice has occurred, is occurring, or is 

about to occur, the Executive Director may 

investigate the matter. As provided under the 

Competition Commission Rules of Procedure 

2009 and in order to make an effective and 

judicious use of available resources, 

investigations are normally preceded by 

enquiries. As opposed to investigations, 

enquiries are not published on the website of 

the Competition Commission. They involve 

mainly information gathering which enables the 

Executive Director to assess whether there are 

reasonable grounds to believe that a restrictive 

business practice has occurred, is occurring or is 

about to occur, thus warranting the initiation of 

an investigation. 

ENQUIRIES 

During the period under review, 54 complaints 

were reported to the Competition Commission 

and 15 issues were internally generated. The 

issues related to various sectors of the economy, 

including Media and Information and 

Communications Technologies, Construction 

and Property Development, Agriculture, Freight 

and Logistics, and Banking and Finance. 

Following a screening process, the relevant 

issues were referred for examination and 

regrouped into 14 enquiries. A further 12 

enquiries were launched on the basis of issues 

that were under ongoing screening since the 

previous year, thus leading to a total number of 

26 new enquiries.  This figure, added to the 27 

ongoing enquiries at the beginning of the period 

under review, brought the total number of 

enquiries handled by the Competition 

Commission during this year to 53. Out of these 

53 enquiries, 29 were closed because no 

reasonable grounds could be found to believe 

that restrictive business practices were 

occurring. 5 enquiries proceeded to 

investigation and 1 advice was submitted to the 

Minister. 

Table1: The figures pertain to enquiries administered during July 2018 to June 2019, providing a breakdown in 

terms of the different provisions of the law under which they were assessed.  

  
ABUSE OF 

MONOPOLY 
MERGER 
REVIEWS 

CARTEL 
MARKET 
REVIEWS 

Total 

Ongoing enquiries on 1st July 2018 12 4 8 3 27 

New enquiries during 2018/19 9 9 8 0 26 

Enquiries recommending 
investigation 

1 3 1 0 5 

Enquiries with no reasonable 
grounds to further pursue the 
matter  

16 5 6 2 29 

Enquiries leading to advice to 
Minister 

1 0 0 0 1 

Ongoing enquiries as at 30th June 
2019 

3 5 9 1 18 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (contd.)  
 

SECTOR/ 
ENQ REF 

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Media 
/ENQ 177 

Abuse of 
dominance 

Allegation of refusal to supply 
rights to broadcast certain TV 
content to a Pay TV supplier.    

During the enquiry process the 
broadcaster made an offer to supply the 
said content to the Pay TV supplier. As such 
the very allegation as was made, no longer 
stood, and thus, the matter was closed. 

Retail & 
distribution 
/ENQ 188 

Resale Price 
Maintenance 

Allegation of resale price 
maintenance (RPM) being 
enforced by a distributor on a 
reseller in the supply of 
electronics and IT products 

The distributor applied for immunity 
further to the RPM Amnesty Programme. 
As such the matter was addressed and 
resolved by way of RPM Amnesty wherein 
the distributor submitted undertakings to 
amend its conduct in line with the Act.  The 
enquiry was closed with no further action. 

Financial 
Services 
/ENQ 192 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Both 
exploitative 
and 
exclusionary 
abuse) 

In granting credit facilities for the 
purchase of goods from 
merchants, a credit facility 
provider was simultaneously 
requiring customers to subscribe 
for a credit protection insurance 
plan with no prior explanation or 
indication that the insurance plan 
was optional. Further, the 
proposed credit protection plan 
was from a selected insurance 
provider.  As a result, customers 
were deprived of their choice of 
insurance providers and this was 
potentially harming competition 
in the credit protection insurance 
market. 

No evidence of coercion on the part of the 
credit facility provider for customers to 
subscribe to a credit insurance protection 
plan was found.  It was gathered that 
customers were made aware that the 
proposed plan was optional and were 
provided with a cooling off period to 
reconsider their decisions of subscribing to 
the credit insurance plan. The enquiry was 
closed with no further action. 

Information 
and 
Communication 
Technology 
/ENQ 193 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
 

Lack of mobile number portability 
was restricting competition in the 
telephony sector.   
 

Preliminary assessment indicated that 
mobile number portability could bring 
more competition among operators in the 
telephony market.  The matter was 
discussed with the sector regulator, that is, 
the Information and Communications 
Technology Authority (ICTA) and the 
Ministry of Technology, Communication 
and Innovation (the Ministry).  It was 
gathered that the Ministry was considering 
the implementation of the number 
portability.  The enquiry was closed with no 
further action. 
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW (contd.)  
 
SECTOR/ 
ENQ REF 

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Education 
/ENQ 194 

Potential 
Advice 

In the context of the educational 
reform, the Mauritius Institute of 
Education (MIE) was entrusted 
with the responsibility to devise 
the syllabi for Grades 7-9 (lower 
secondary).  It was alleged that 
MIE disclosed the syllabi for the 
lower secondary schools late 
around September 2017, for 
textbooks to be available for 
January 2018.  The disclosure of 
the syllabi was inadequate for 
purposes of publishing textbooks 
by private publishers.  MIE, thus, 
had an edge over the publication 
of lower secondary textbooks.  
Moreover, the Ministry of 
Education was influencing 
secondary schools in their choice 
of textbooks in favour of MIE 
textbooks.  As such, private 
publishers were foreclosed from 
supplying lower secondary 
textbooks on the market. 

It was found that the MIE was late in 
disclosing the syllabi for lower secondary 
schools but the extent of disclosure was 
adequate for the purposes of publishing 
the textbooks.  The late disclosure of the 
syllabi had a short-term effect in so far as 
the publication of Grade 7 textbooks for 
the year 2018 was concerned.  Thereafter, 
publishers were free to publish and supply 
textbooks on the market. Moreover, no 
coercion on the part of the Ministry, to 
exclusively prescribe MIE textbooks by 
secondary schools, were found.   Schools 
were also free to prescribe any textbooks if 
they met the objectives of the National 
Curriculum Framework. The enquiry was 
closed with no further action. 

Banking and 
financial 
services 
/ENQ 204 

Collusion – 
Price fixing 

Confidential Confidential 

Freight logistics 
& inland 
transportation 
/ENQ 206 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

A major liner shipping company 
was practicing margin squeeze by 
offering preferential rates 
through its subsidiary freight 
forwarding company, to the 
detriment of rivals.  Thus, it was 
harming competition in the 
freight forwarding market. 

The information submitted by the 
complainant was inaccurate and the 
allegation unfounded. The enquiry was 
closed with no further action. The enquiry 
was closed with no further action. 

Manufacturing 
/ENQ 207 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exploitative 
abuse) 
 

Following the ban on export of 
scrap metal, the dominant local 
operator was abusing of its 
monopoly situation by being 
selective in the buying of scrap 
metals and exploiting scrap metal 
dealers in terms of inferior 
purchase price and other 
conditions such as delays in 
effecting payments. 

The lifting of the ban on export of scrap 
metal in June 2019 annulled all 
competition concerns as scrap metal 
dealers could once again sell scrap metals 
on the international market. The enquiry 
was closed with no further action. 
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SECTOR/ 
ENQ REF 

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Freight logistics 
& inland 
transportation 
/ENQ 208 

Abuse of 
dominance 

Alleged predatory behaviour by a 
player in the market for the supply 
of inland transportation of 
container services. 

Evidence showed that the price of the 
player concerned was unlikely to be 
predatory. Further, the allegation did not 
stand as several of the alleged conducts 
were non-existent. The enquiry was closed 
with no further action. 

Agro-industry 
/ENQ 211 
 

Potential 
Advice 
 

The regulatory measure of 
conditioning the issue of import 
permits for processing grade pork 
subject to the purchase of an 
equivalent volume of slaughtered 
pigs from local breeders was 
applied in a discriminatory 
manner.  Import permits were 
issued to a major pork processor 
without the latter having to meet 
the local purchase requirement 
whereas on other pork 
processors, the regulatory 
measure was strictly applied. 

It was found that the regulatory measure 
was indeed applied on a discriminatory 
basis.  This raised competition concerns in 
so far as the other pork processors had to 
incur higher operational costs in terms of 
buying local pigs which was not used in the 
supply of processed pork to hotels. The 
Ministry was accordingly advised of the 
adverse effect on competition resulting 
from the discrimination. 
 

Gaming 
/ENQ 213 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

The operator of the national 
lottery was entering into 
agreements, which included non-
compete clauses with retailers.  
Thus,  denying access to outlets 
for rival products and harming 
competition.  
 

Assessment revealed that the products 
offered by the complainant were unlikely 
to be competing with the national lottery.  
Notwithstanding the issue of relevant 
market, it was gathered that retailers were 
offering both the national lottery and the 
products of the complainant and as such 
there was no anticompetitive foreclosure 
effect on the market. The enquiry was 
closed with no further action. 

Food 
/ENQ 215 

Collusion – 
Price fixing 

The alleged matter was price 
fixing in the supply of onions 
based on an increase in the retail 
prices of onions 

No information was obtained regarding the 
allegation of price-fixing. The increase in 
the price of onions was attributed to the 
introduction of Minimum Export Prices on 
onions by India where most onions are 
imported from.  The enquiry was closed 
with no further action. 

Retail & 
distribution 
/ENQ 217 

Collusion – 
Market 
sharing 

The enquiry was launched to 
assess an application for leniency 
made by a distributor for a 
potential market sharing 
agreement with its resellers. 

The enquiry found that there were no 
reasonable grounds to believe that the 
conduct is a restrictive business practice, 
the more so that the reported agreements 
had already been reviewed and addressed 
as part of the RPM Amnesty Programme. 
The enquiry was closed with no further 
action. 
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SECTOR/ 
ENQ REF 

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Financial 
Services 
/ENQ 218 
 

 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

A major medical insurance 
company had listed a sole 
optometry service provider in its 
preferred list for the purpose of 
cashless facilities to its insured 
beneficiaries.  Thus, the practice 
was to the detriment of other 
non-listed optometry service 
providers and competition in the 
market. 
 

It was gathered that the medical insurance 
company do not have preferred list for 
cashless services, except for one 
optometry service provider. The provision 
of the cashless services to the optometry 
service provider was part of a pilot project, 
which was intended to be extended to 
other service providers. However, the 
project did not materialise and the cashless 
service arrangement with the optometry 
service provider continued.  It was found 
that the agreement between the insurance 
company and the optometry service 
provider, however, had not restricted 
competition in the supply of optical and 
optometry services by foreclosing market 
access to other service providers. The 
enquiry was closed with no further action. 

Construction 
/ENQ 219 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exploitative 
abuse) 
 

The prices of the two available 
cement brands, namely Kolos and 
Baobab,  were different in 
Rodrigues.   Moreover, the lower-
priced cement brand was not 
available in Rodrigues and that 
there was only  one distributor of 
the higher-priced cement brand. 
 

It was gathered that the price of cement 
was regulated and that the price 
differential, arising from difference in 
factory costs, between the two brands was 
insignificant. Short term non-availability of 
a particular brand of cement was mainly 
attributed to storage capacity of the 
retailers. Finally, the alleged sole 
distributor of a particular brand, which in 
itself does not raise a competition issue, 
was unfounded. The enquiry was closed 
with no further action. 

Real Estate 
/ENQ 220 

Merger review Merger Review of the acquisition 
of shares in BlueLife Ltd (BLL) by 
IBL Ltd. 

It has been noted that both IBL Ltd 
(through Bloomage) and BLL are operating 
in real estate/property sector 
development in Mauritius. It was 
concluded that the transaction did not lead 
to adverse competition concerns in view of 
the fact that there are several players in 
the market and the market share threshold 
was unlikely to be met. The enquiry was 
closed with no further action. 

Financial 
services 
/ENQ 221 

Collusion – 
Price fixing 

An enquiry was opened upon 
press information reporting on 
certain decisions taken by the 
Executive Committee of the Petrol 
Retailers Association (PRA) to 
apply a percentage surcharge on 
purchases of petroleum products 
effected by consumers using 
payment cards.  

The enquiry found that each card acquiring 
petrol service station (PSS) qualified as an 
enterprise deriving revenue from charging 
a service fee for supplying card acceptance 
facilities. The enquiry found reasonable 
grounds to believe that the PRA’s decisions 
could amount to prohibited collusive 
agreement(s) having the object of fixing 
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SECTOR/ 
ENQ REF 

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

  The purpose of the enquiry was to 
assess whether the said PRA 
decisions amounted to a 
prohibited conduct under the Act. 

the fee at which PSS members supply their 
card-acceptance services to consumers 
paying for their petroleum refills by 
debit/credit card. The matter has 
proceeded to an investigation. 

Other services 
/ENQ 222 
 
 

Potential 
Advice 
 

The Mauritius Police Force (MPF) 
was restricting the number of 
driving instructors by refusing to 
grant new driving instructor and 
driving school licenses.  As a result 
of this entry foreclosure, learners 
were potentially incurring higher 
instruction fees and lower quality 
of instruction. 
 

It was gathered that the MPF follows a set 
of procedures with regard to the granting 
of licenses.   As part of the process, eligible 
applicants have to undertake both written 
and practical examinations, and successful 
candidate are granted licenses. The letter 
of refusal submitted by the complainant  
was for an applicant who had not been 
successful in the examination.   It was also 
gathered that the Ministry of Public 
Infrastructure had embarked on a project 
to provide driving instructions’ training, 
which could potentially lead to more 
players in this line of business. The enquiry 
was closed with no further action. 

Construction 
and related 
markets 
/ENQ 223 

Merger review Merger review of the 
amalgamation of Cogir Ltee 
(‘Cogir’) and Building and Civil 
Engineering Co Ltd (‘BCE’).                  

The Competition Commission conducted 
various assessments to determine the 
closeness of competition of the two 
players, including bid analysis. However, it 
was found that they were unlikely to be 
very close competitors and that the 
transaction was unlikely to significantly 
hinder competition.  The enquiry was 
closed with no further action. 

Information 
and 
Communication 
Technology 
/ENQ 225 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

Several complaints were received 
to the effect that access to the 
over-the-top (OTT) application, 
MyCanal, of McVision was 
unavailable to internet 
subscribers of Mauritius Telecom 
(MT).  It was submitted that either 
McVision or MT was blocking the 
access.  Moreover, the 4K Ultra 
HD decoder of McVision was not 
available to broadband 
subscription from MT. 

As far as denial of access to MyCanal Apps 
on the network of MT was concerned, the 
matter has been referred to the ICTA with 
potential regulatory issue with regard to 
net neutrality.  For the 4k Ultra HD decoder 
of McVision, it was gathered that same was 
meant for customers of CanalBox (bundle 
of broadband and TV) and not for stand 
alone TV.  The enquiry was closed with no 
further action. 
 

Financial 
services 
/ENQ 226 

Merger 
review 

CIM Financial Services Ltd 
informed the Competition 
Commission that it acquired 
Mauritian Eagle Leasing Company 
Limited, which was then assessed 
during an enquiry. 

Both parties were active in the leasing 
business, with different market share for 
finance and operating lease. It was found 
that the combined market share of the 
parties was close to 30% in certain market. 
However, it was unlikely that the   
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   transaction would lead to substantial 
lessening of competition as the 
incremental change in market share was 
not significant given the market share of 
other players in the market. Further, the 
market was likely to be constrained by 
other credit facilities and loans. The 
enquiry was closed with no further action. 

Broadcasting 
/ENQ 227 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

The arrangement between MBC 
and NRJ with regard to the 
broadcasting of NRJ Maurice 
would  cause a shift in audience 
from the existing private radios to 
NRJ Maurice, resulting in a 
reduction in their advertising 
revenue and potentially 
foreclosing their business.   
 

It was found that the NRJ-MBC 
arrangement did not harm competition in 
the radio programs broadcasting market.   
NRJ Maurice was targeting a younger 
segment of the audience and provided for 
a niche market for music-based programs. 
There was no  grounds to believe that the 
audience or advertising revenue of the 
private radios were affected with the 
broadcasting of NRJ Maurice. The enquiry 
was closed with no further action. 

Retail 
/ENQ 228 

Merger 
Review 

Notified acquisition of the 
activities of supermarkets of 
Shoprite (Mtius) Ltd by Pick and 
Buy Ltd. 

Pick and Buy Ltd operates supermarkets 
under the name of Winner’s and the 
proposed acquisition was Shoprite (Mtius) 
Ltd supermarkets. It was found that the 
market was likely to be geographically 
limited to proximity of the supermarkets. 
Pick and Buy Ltd has supermarkets closely 
located to those being acquired, and there 
were concerns that the transaction may 
lessen competition in certain region. The 
matter has proceeded to investigation. 

Agro-industry 
/ ENQ 229 

Collusion – 
Joint-
procurement 

The enquiry assessed a proposed 
joint procurement agreement by 
two operators in the cane 
industry. The aim of the proposed 
agreement was to establish a 
sourcing strategy for certain 
goods and services that the 
parties were individually 
procuring locally through 
importers and agents. 

The enquiry concluded that joint-
procurement agreement did not raise 
reasonable grounds of price fixing in the 
downstream markets identified due to 
specificities of the markets. It was also 
found that the  estimated combined 
market shares of the main parties are not 
enough for the joint procurement 
arrangement to significantly prevent, 
restrict or distort competition in the 
upstream markets. The enquiry was closed 
with no further action. 
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Energy 
/ ENQ 231 
 
 

Potential 
Advice 
 

The complainant submitted that 
prior approval of the Central 
Electricity Board (CEB) was 
required for the facilitation of 
renewable energy investment 
scheme by the Economic 
Development Board (EDB).  In its 
capacity of regulator and 
operator, the role of CEB may 
potentially be viewed as 
regulatory barrier to entry. 
 

Contrary to the submission of the 
complainant, the EDB does not have an 
active role in the promotion of renewable 
energy as such. It acts as facilitator which 
onboards foreign investors and 
streamlines only those generally applicable 
procedures which are required to enable 
them to invest in any local project. The 
CEB, by virtue of the statutes, has been 
acting as regulator and operator in the 
energy sector. This is no more the case 
with the coming into operation of the 
Utility Regulatory Board.  As such no 
regulator barrier was identified. The 
enquiry was closed with no further action. 

Banking 
/ ENQ 232 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

A local bank  was imposing 
excessive interest rate refund 
upon early repayment of  a home 
loan, through a clause in the loan 
offer letter. This clause was 
preventing customers from 
switching to other banks and thus 
affecting competition. 
 

It was found that the bank had provided 
the complainant with a concessionary 
interest rate of 3.99% for the first three 
years subject to a minimum of 6 years 
contract period; otherwise the same 
interest rate as for the remaining duration 
of the loan was applicable.  These terms 
and conditions was clearly spelt out in the 
loan offer letter and accepted by the 
complainant. It was observed that 3.99% 
interest rate for the first three years was 
lower than the repo rate, which is often 
used as the benchmark for the cost of 
capital. The promotional interest rate most 
likely was to attract customers and 
subsequently recover same. The enquiry 
was closed with no further action. 

Financial 
Services 
/ENQ 233 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

An insurance company had 
exclusive agency arrangements 
with certain car dealers for the 
sales of motor insurance.  These 
arrangements were providing the 
insurance company with a 
monopoly at the marketplace and 
preventing  competition by 
foreclosing access to other 
insurance companies on motor 
insurance for vehicles sold by the 
car dealers. 

Information gathered did not support a 
potential monopoly at the marketplace of 
the car dealers to the advantage of the 
particular insurance company. Figures 
showed that customers were exercising 
their choice regarding their motor 
insurance providers.  The enquiry was 
closed with no further action. 
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SECTOR/ 
ENQ REF 

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT 

Manufacturing 
/ENQ 235 

Merger review Application for guidance 
submitted by Mauritius Chemical 
and Fertilizer Ltd into its proposed 
acquisition of Bychemex Ltd and 
Chemco Ltd. 

The main markets analysed were those of 
caustic soda and hydrogen peroxide. The 
Competition Commission concluded that 
the transaction would not amount to a 
reviewable merger situation within the 
meaning of the Act. Most of the 
enterprises concerned were already under 
common control, and for the remaining, 
they were unlikely to cause competition 
concerns. The enquiry was closed with no 
further action. 

Gaming 
/ENQ 237 
 
 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exclusionary 
abuse) 
 

Refusal to sub-license  propriety 
rights on UK fixtures list and 
football data to a bookmarker, 
thereby preventing the latter to 
offer football bets and compete 
on the market. 

Based on the information gathered, there 
was reasonable grounds to believe that the 
refusal to sub-licence the propriety rights 
for the offering of football betting could 
harm competition. The matter has 
proceeded to investigation.  

Information 
and 
Communication 
Technology 
/ENQ 238 

Abuse of 
monopoly 
(Exploitative 
abuse) 

With the deployment of its fibre 
optics cable network throughout 
Mauritius, a dominant telecom 
operator was unfairly removing 
the modem of an Internet Service 
Provider (ISP) and thus cancelling 
internet connectivity.  The  clients 
of the ISP had no other choice 
than to shift to the services of the 
telecom operator. 

It was found that the agreement between 
the telecom operator and the ISP regarding 
the supply of wholesale ADSL had lapsed.   
There was no evidence that the telecom 
operator had refused wholesale internet 
connectivity to the ISP.  It was submitted 
that the supply of internet connectivity to 
the ISP was terminated due to non-
fulfilment of its payment obligations 
towards the telecom operator. The enquiry 
was closed with no further action. 

Transport 
/ENQ 239 
 

Potential 
Advice 

Selective listing of six motor 
insurance companies by the 
National Transport Authority 
(NTA) on its online payment 
system for road tax (Declaration).   
NTA was thus denying the 
customers, of the other non-listed 
insurance companies, the 
possibility to effect online 
payment of road tax. 

Information gathered revealed that all 
motor insurance companies were invited 
to connect to the online payment portal of 
the NTA and  these insurance companies 
were gradually connecting to the system. 
The enquiry was closed with no further 
action. 
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SECTOR/ 
ENQ REF 

FORM OF 
RESTRICTIVE 
BUSINESS 
PRACTICE 

ALLEGATION ASSESSMENT  

Insurance 
/ENQ 240 

Merger 
Review 

Application for guidance into the 
proposed acquisition of 30% of 
Medscheme (Mtius) Ltd by 
Mauritian Eagle Insurance Co. 
Ltd. 

The main market concerned by this 
notification was supply of health insurance 
and its administration. Following initial 
assessment of this notified merger, players 
on the market expressed potential 
competition concerns if the transaction is 
carried into effect. It was found that the 
transaction is likely to be reviewable under 
the Act and as such the matter has 
proceeded to investigation.  

Manufacturing 
/ENQ 242 

Merger review This review was launched into the 
potential acquisition of a majority 
stake by New Goodwill 
Investment Co Ltd in Medine 
Distilleries Co Ltd.   

During the enquiry it was found that New 
Goodwill Investment Co Ltd already owns 
about 33% shares in Grays Distilling Ltd 
which is a direct competitor to Medine 
Distilleries Co Ltd, and both have important 
market shares in the supply of extra 
neutral alcohol which is used to 
manufacture among others, rum. Further, 
it was found that New Goodwill Investment 
Ltd is likely to have significant market 
shares through New Goodwill Company 
and International Distillers (Mauritius) Ltd 
in the market for the supply of rum. It was 
found that the transaction is likely to raise 
competition concerns and the matter has 
proceeded to an investigation.   

Leisure 
/ENQ 243 

Merger review Merger Review of the acquisition 
of Compagnie Valome Ltee by 
Lavastone Properties and transfer 
of operations of Mourouk Ebony 
Hotel in Rodrigues to Trimetys 
Group, which already operates 
the Tekoma Boutik Hotel, in 
Rodrigues.  

An enquiry was launched to assess 
whether the transaction was reviewable 
under the Act. During the enquiry, it was 
found that both hotels did not have the 
requisite market share of 30% or more in 
the supply of hotel rooms in Rodrigues. 
Further, they were not close competitors 
by virtue of their location, pricing and 
target clientele. The enquiry was closed 
with no further action. 

Construction 
/ENQ 244 

Collusion The enquiry was launched further 
to an internally generated issue 
regarding the supply of cement.  It 
was gathered that one supplier of 
cement had started operating a 
depot on the location and 
premises that was previously used 
by a competitor which has since 
exited the market. 

The enquiry reviewed the agreement for 
the use of the depot but found no 
information about collusive agreements. 
Thus, there were no reasonable grounds to 
proceed to an investigation. The enquiry 
was closed with no further action. 
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INVESTIGATIONS 

A core function of the Competition Commission 

is the enforcement of the Act through 

investigations by the office of the Executive 

Director. Upon completion of investigations, the 

Executive Director submits a report on his 

findings, pursuant to section 51(2) of the Act, to 

the Commissioners.  Thereupon, directions or 

penalties aimed at deterring and remedying 

anti-competitive practices are determined in 

reasoned decisions of the Commissioners and 

consequently enforced. 

Section 35(2) of the Act provides that the Annual 

Report of the Competition Commission shall, as 

far as possible, give an account of the 

investigations that were carried out and their 

outcome as well as any decision of the 

Commissioners in respect of completed 

investigations.  

Between July 2018 and June 2019, the Executive 

Director initiated 5 investigations, completed 8 

investigations and 46 RPM cases . At the end of 

the financial year, there were 8 ongoing 

investigations and 1 ongoing market study. 

 

INV026 - Potential fixing of school van fees 

The Executive Director launched an 

investigation under Section 51 of the Act into 

alleged restrictive business practices by the 

‘Komité Van Lekol’ (KVL) and its members in 

respect to the supply of private transport 

services in vans, mini-buses and buses to school-

going children from their places of  residence to 

their respective educational institutions (pre-

primary, primary and secondary schools). The 

investigation aimed at assessing whether KVL 

has breached section 41 of the Act.  During the 

investigation no evidence showing the existence 

of horizontal agreement(s) by KVL and its 

members, to fix the price of the service, was 

found. The investigation was not able to show 

 

 

the existence of a decision of KVL -  as an 

association of enterprises - to fix prices; or that 

the members of KVL had shared information on 

pricing. 

The investigation therefore concluded that no 

finding of breach could be sustained on the basis 

that the association of enterprise, subject to the 

investigation, had ceased to exist; no evidence 

for the elements of collusive agreement to  fix 

the price of the service as required under 

section 41 and 50 of the Act was found; and the 

initial competition concern stemming from the 

statements on price had ceased to occur.  The 

Executive Director has thus submitted his report 

of investigation to the Commissioners for their 

determination. 

 

INV033 - Potential bid rigging 

The investigation was launched further to 

information indicating possible bid rigging with 

respect to the Open Advertised Bid for the 

supply, testing and commissioning of an 

integrated security system for the Moka 

Detention Centre by the Police Department in 

2014. The main information for the start of the 

investigation was that the bid submissions of 

two bidders contained similar contents raising 

suspicion that the bids were not prepared 

independently by the bidders. 

During the investigation, the Executive Director 

carried out search and seizure exercises at the 

premises of the enterprises concerned. Further 

to the assessment carried out through perusal of 

physical and electronic documents seized during 

the search exercises, and of information 

gathered through meetings, the investigation 

did not find evidence to sustain on the balance 

of probabilities, a finding of breach of section 42 

of the Act. 
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The finding of the investigation is that the 

similarities in the bid data sheets submitted by 

the main parties were due to inadvertence 

resulting from the role played by a third party 

who was tasked with the preparation of the bid 

submissions by both parties but separately. The 

main parties were not aware that they have 

both hired the same person to work on their bid 

submissions. 

The Executive Director has thus submitted his 

report of investigation to the Commissioners for 

their determination. 

 

INV038 - Investigation into suspected collusive 

agreement existing between members of a 

certain association. 

An investigation was launched with respect to a 

potential collusive agreement that may exist 

among certain members of an association in the 

logistics sector through the Standard Trading 

Conditions of the association. 

The Executive Director found that the Standard 

Trading Conditions, being a decision of the 

association, qualify as a decision of an 

association of enterprises.  The Executive 

Director found that certain decisions of the 

association also raised price-fixing concerns and 

were in breach of section 41 of the Act. 

The Association submitted undertakings under 

section 63 of the Act to resolve the arising 

competition concerns of the investigation. The 

Executive Director has submitted his report on 

the matter to the Commissioners for their 

determination.  

 

 

 

 

 

INV039 - Investigation into suspected collusive 

agreement existing between members of a 

certain association 

This investigation, to an appreciable extent 

similar to INV038, was launched into a 

suspected breach of section 41 of the Act by 

another trade association in the import/export 

sector. It was alleged that members of the 

association may have agreed through a Standard 

Trading Condition and through other decisions 

of the Association on various pricing elements. 

The Executive Director in his investigation found 

that the various concerns raised are likely to 

amount to breaches of the Act in the form of 

price fixing issues.  

The Association on behalf of certain of its 

members submitted undertakings to the 

Competition Commission in an endeavour to 

address the concerns of the investigation. The 

Executive Director has submitted his report on 

the matter to the Commissioners for their 

determination.  

 

INV040 – Investigation into Online Real Estate 

Listing 

On 18 March 2018, the Executive Director 

initiated the investigation INV040 having 

reasonable grounds that Mediatiz Ltd could be 

restricting competition by coercing real estate 

agents into exclusivity arrangements for listing 

properties on its portal - L’Express Property.   

The alleged coercion of real estate agents by 

Mediatiz Ltd for exclusive listing on L’Express 

Property was through special offers such as free 

account upgrades, free access to CRM software 

to manage listings, free listings onto 

lexpressclassified.mu and free boosting credits 

for client listings to appear on top pages. 

In the course of the investigation and pursuant 

to section 63 of the Act, Mediatiz Ltd voluntarily
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but without admitting infringement of section 

46 of the Act, offered undertakings to address 

the likely competition concern arising from the 

impugned conduct. These undertakings 

consisted primarily of commitments for: 

• not entering into any exclusivity 

agreements, incentivizing or otherwise 

enticing or coercing real estate agents 

into exclusivity for online property listing; 

• ensuring that existing agreements do not 

involve any exclusivity arrangements; and 

• not entering into or maintaining in force 

any agreement provisions that 

conditioned the supply of any Mediatiz-

branded online advertising service or the  

availability or extent of any payment or 

other advantage on the customer’s 

obligation to discontinue, reduce, or vary 

the terms of any agreement or 

commercial relationship with any other 

supplier. 

 

The Executive Director assessed the efficacy of 

the undertakings offered by Mediatiz Ltd and 

concluded that those undertakings are likely to 

allay the competition concern arising from the 

impugned conduct of coercion for exclusive 

listing on L’Express Property.  With the 

undertakings offered by Mediatiz Ltd, existing 

and potential competitors of L’Express Property 

would no more face the issue of customer 

foreclosure. 

On 26th June 2019, the Executive Director 

submitted his report recommending that the 

Commission accepts the undertakings offered 

by Mediatiz Ltd.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

INV045 - Potential fixing of card service fee by 

Petrol Retailers Association 

In May 2018, the Executive Director took 

cognizance of certain press articles reporting 

that the local petrol service stations (PSS) would 

apply a 2% surcharge of the value of every 

petroleum purchase effected by consumers 

using debit/credit cards.  The 2% service fee 

allegedly resulted from a decision taken during 

a meeting of the Petrol Retailers Association 

(PRA) – which regroups some 146 PSS.  

The PRA’s decision intervened following the STC 

- Petroleum Pricing Committee’s decision to 

increase the price for petroleum products 

without a corresponding increase in the retail 

margin which PSS derive from the sale of 

petroleum.  The aim of charging a service fee 

was intended to cover the costs incurred by PSS 

in providing card-acceptance facilities to 

consumers. In June 2018, a subsequent decision 

of the PRA announced that a 1% service would 

henceforth apply to card purchases. 

The Executive Director opened an investigation 

since the PRA’s decisions were likely to amount 

to an illegal agreement between competitors, 

through an association decision, to fix the price 

for supplying card-acceptance services to 

consumers.  Although Petroleum Products are 

excluded from the purview of the Act, the supply 

of payment card services to consumers effecting 

payment for their fuel refills by debit/credit 

cards is not. After meeting with the PRA 

representatives and reviewing information 

submitted by the PRA, the Executive Director 

found that the decisions taken by the PRA 

amounted to agreements falling within the 

scope of the section 41 prohibition. The said 

agreements have the object of fixing the service 

fee charged by PRA members for supplying card-

acceptance services to consumers paying for 

their fuel refill and as such were to be 

considered as null and void.  The Executive 

Director has inter alia recommended that each 
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member of the PRA be directed to cease and 

terminate, with immediate effect, its 

participation to the PRA’s decision of fixing the 

service fee in relation to the supply of card-

acceptance services to consumers for their 

petroleum refills. The Executive Director has not 

recommended the imposition of a financial 

penalty on PRA members on exceptional 

grounds: the peculiar economic conditions in 

which PRA members operate, the fact that card 

acceptance costs are not factored when fixing 

the retail margin of PSS, the direct impact which 

the petroleum price increase had on PSS’  

business without corresponding increase on 

retail margins, and the several steps taken by 

the PRA to address their industry concerns with 

relevant stakeholders before deciding to adopt 

the card service fee. 

The Executive Director has submitted his report 

of investigation, together with his 

recommendations on the matter, to the 

Commissioners for their determination. 

 

INV046: Merger review of the proposed 

takeover of retail activities of Shoprite (Mtius) 

Ltd by Pick and Buy Ltd 

The Competition Commission took cognizance 

of the proposed takeover of the activities of 

Shoprite (Mauritius) Ltd by Pick and Buy Ltd, 

owner of the chain of supermarkets Winner’s by 

way of a meeting held with the Executive 

Director in July 2018. 

Pick and Buy Ltd operates supermarkets under 

the name of Winner’s. Shoprite (Mauritius) Ltd 

also operated supermarkets in Mauritius, under 

the name of Shoprite. At the time of the 

notification of the proposed transaction, 

Shoprite (Mauritius) Ltd was operating two 

supermarkets in Mauritius located in Port-Louis 

and Tamarin.  

 

 

The proposed transaction however, pertained to 

the acquisition of certain assets and liabilities of 

Shoprite (Mauritius) Ltd, which is its 

supermarket located at Garden Tower, 

Poudrière Street, Port-Louis, and the offer of 

employment possibilities for employees working 

at that supermarket. 

The Executive Director found that the proposed 

transaction may result in significant increase of 

the market share and market power of Pick and 

Buy Ltd in Port-Louis given that Pick and Buy Ltd 

already had a supermarket closely located to 

Shoprite (Mauritius) Ltd in Port-Louis. As such, 

the Executive Director was concerned that the 

proposed transaction may result in substantial 

lessening of competition in the Port-Louis 

market. 

After various discussions, Shoprite (Mauritius) 

Ltd informed the Competition Commission that 

it was not able to find an alternate feasible 

buyer. In addition, Pick and Buy Ltd informed the 

Competition Commission that the location of 

Winner’s supermarket in Port-Louis is on leased 

premises and the lessor was not willing to 

transfer the lease. The Executive Director 

verified those submissions and found that given 

these circumstances, and compared to the 

counterfactual, the transaction may be allowed 

but the parties needed to commit on their 

conduct on the market. 

Pick and Buy Ltd undertook, among others, that:   

(i) it will continue the operations of its 
current supermarket located at Reverend 
Jean Lebrun, Sir Celicourt Antelme St, 
Port-Louis up to the expiry of the current 
lease agreement.  

 

(ii) It will align the pricing policy of the 
supermarket being acquired with the 
national pricing policy of Winner’s, 
including promotional offers, such that 
the prices offered in the Port-Louis  
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location are similar to those being offered 
in Winner’s outlets, except where there 
are promotions limited to one outlet. Any 
deviation from this policy must be 
approved by the Competition 
Commission. 

 

(iii) It will continue to operate the 
supermarket being taken over as 
supermarkets, with adequate services 
level, and the operating hours of the 
supermarkets no less favourable to 
customers, as compared to the current 
service level.  
 

The Executive Director formed the view that the 

undertakings satisfactorily addressed the 

competition concerns identified during the 

investigation and submitted his Final Report of 

Undertakings to the Commissioners on the 10th 

October 2018. The transaction was cleared 

subject to the undertakings. 

 
 
INV047: Merger review of the proposed 
acquisition of 30% of Medscheme (Mauritius) 
Ltd by Mauritian Eagle Insurance Co. Ltd. 
 
In December 2018, Medscheme (Mauritius) Ltd 

(“Medscheme”) and Mauritian Eagle Insurance 

Co Ltd, now Eagle Insurance, (“Mauritian Eagle”) 

made a joint application for the guidance of the 

Competition Commission into the proposed 

acquisition of 30% of shares of Medscheme by 

Mauritian Eagle.  

Mauritian Eagle operates in all classes of 

business within the short-term (general) 

insurance in Mauritius and is a subsidiary of the 

IBL Group. Medscheme is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Medscheme Holdings (Pty) Ltd 

which is in turn, wholly is owned by AfroCentric 

Investment Corporation Limited. Medscheme is 

a medical insurance and provident fund 

administrator and is engaged in the provision of  

   

membership management and claims 

administration of health insurance policies. 

Through the proposed transaction, Mauritian 

Eagle proposed to acquire 30% shareholding in 

Medscheme. The Competition Commission 

found that the acquisition will allow Mauritian 

Eagle to exercise at least material influence over 

the policy of Medscheme and will bring the 

enterprises under the common ownership and 

control. The transaction therefore amounted to 

a merger situation within the meaning of the 

Act. 

The Competition Commission’s assessment led 

to the findings that the parties may be 

competing in the market for the supply of health 

insurance schemes to corporate clients and that 

the statutory market share threshold was met. 

The Executive Director of the Competition 

Commission was concerned that following the 

transaction, Mauritian Eagle could have access 

to data on Medscheme’s clients which in turn 

can distort competition as several of the clients 

could be direct or indirect competitors to 

Mauritian Eagle. However, this concern was 

mitigated by the fact that Mauritian Eagle did 

not in itself hold significant market shares in the 

market for health insurance and that Mauritian 

Eagle and Medscheme will continue to remain 

two separate entities. 

In February 2019, the parties offered 

behavioural undertakings to the Competition 

Commission to address the competition 

concerns identified. The undertakings submitted 

are mainly with regards to measures taken by 

the parties to ring fence the data of Medscheme 

such that it is not accessible to Mauritian Eagle. 

After assessing the undertakings, the Executive 

Director formed the view that they would 

satisfactorily address the competition concerns 

raised and as such recommended that they be 

accepted. The Commissioners cleared the 

transaction subject to the undertakings.  
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ADVICE TO GOVERNMENT 

Import quota on processing-grade pork 

On 25th February 2019, the Competition 

Commission issued an advice for the removal of 

the condition that require import permits for 

processing grade pork on the condition that 

pork processors source 50% of their meat 

requirement from local pig breeders.  Section 19 

of the Act provides that the “Commission may 

advise the Minister on any action taken or 

proposed to be taken by the State or any public 

body that may adversely affect competition in 

the supply of goods and services." 

In October 2017, the Executive Director of the 

Competition Commission initiated an enquiry 

following two complaints made by pork 

processors regarding the regulatory measure of 

the Ministry of Agro-Industry for conditioning 

import permits for processing grade pork on the 

purchase of an equivalent volume of local pork. 

The Executive Director gathered that the 

contested regulatory measure was formalized in 

2014 with the objective of providing local pig 

breeders an outlet for their produce.  It is 

gathered that for the year 2017, around 600 

tons of pork were produced from the slaughter 

of pigs locally.  About one third of this volume 

was sold to pork processors.  The enquiry, 

however, revealed that local pork supplied to 

processors was not being used for processing 

purposes.  Pork processors were buying local pig 

carcasses merely for the purpose of obtaining 

import permits and resell same.   Local pork was 

not being used for processing by pork processors 

because of issues related to, inter alia, HACCP 

certification. The assessment of the competitive 

effects of the restriction on importation of 

progressing grade pork revealed that the 

measure could have led to adverse effects on 

competition in the supply of secondary cuts and 

processed pork to retailers, restaurants and 

 

hotels. It was found that following the 

implementation of the contested measure, 

some pork processors had exited the market and 

the outputs of others had decreased.  The harm 

to competition in the pork processing sector was 

compounded by the fact that the regulatory 

measure was being implemented in a 

discriminatory manner.  The leading pork 

processor in Mauritius was being granted import 

permits without having to source any volume of 

pork from the local market.  It was found that 

the leading pork processor had consolidated its 

market position following the formalisation of 

the contested measure since 2014. Market 

concentration in the wholesale supply of 

secondary cuts and processed pork to retailers, 

restaurant and hotels had increased.  

The regulatory measure of requiring of pork 

processors to source 50% of their meat 

requirement was meant to provide local pig 

breeders an outlet to sell their produce.  But the 

fundamental issue was that locally supplied pork 

was not being used for processing and supply to 

retail outlets, restaurants and hotels.  Tying 

import permits to the purchase of local pork by 

pork processors was found to be harmful to 

competition in the local pork processing 

industry.   The exit of pork processors from the 

market implied that local breeders could no 

longer rely on them to sell their produce.  Thus, 

rendering the regulatory measure ineffective 

and not in the interest of local pig breeders. 

In view of the likely adverse effects on 

competition in the local pork processing market, 

the Executive Director recommended that the 

import restriction on processing grade pork be 

abolished and that the Ministry of Agro-Industry 

considers other regulatory measures to support 

local pig breeders.  The Commissioners accepted 

this recommendation and issued an advice, 

pursuant to section 19 of the Act.
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OUTREACH TO PUBLIC PROCUREMENT 

OFFICIALS 

 As part of its advocacy mandate and more 

particularly in its endeavour to fight bid rigging 

practices which undermine the process of 

competition in public procurement, the 

Competition Commission collaborated with 

three public bodies, namely the Ministry of 

Public Infrastructure and Land Transport (‘MPI’), 

the Waste Water Management Authority 

(‘WMA’), and the Ministry of Education and 

Human Resources, Tertiary Education and 

Scientific Research (‘MoE’) to reach out to their 

relevant procurement officials on the provisions 

of the Competition Act 2007 (the ‘Act’) relating 

to bid-rigging, its investigation and enforcement 

in practice.  

This advocacy endeavour is an ongoing 

programme of the Competition Commission and 

has as a key objective to provide government 

officials engaged in tender designs and 

processes with key notions pertaining to bid 

rigging practices amongst suppliers that would 

constitute as offenses under the provisions of 

the Act. This initiative also allowed for the 

promotion of fruitful exchanges and experience 

sharing between procurement officials and the 

Competition Commission’s investigative officers 

to, in turn, equip the Competition Commission 

with a better understanding of key bidding 

markets for selected Government 

agencies/departments/Ministries.  

The Competition Commission held a short 

presentation and question and answer session 

at the respective offices of the MPI, WMA and 

MoE in January, March and June 2019 to the 

benefit of around a total of 90 key Government 

officials involved in tender designs and 

processes.  The outreach will be extended to 

other public bodies to further raise awareness 

on bid rigging practices and the Act.  

  

 

 

TALK AT THE INSTITUTE FOR JUDICIAL AND 

LEGAL STUDIES (IJLS) 

Continuing Professional Development 

Programme courses organised by the Institute 

for Judicial and Legal Studies (IJLS) are a valuable 

platform to keep practitioners abreast of 

developments in the law. For the Competition 

Commission, it also provides an opportunity to 

introduce them to new fields such as 

competition law.  

Leveraging on this opportunity, as part of a 

working collaboration between the two 

institutions, two members of the Unilateral 

Conduct Working Group of the Competition 

Commission delivered an intermediate level 

training course at the IJLS on the 28th November 

2018. The course was targeted primarily at 

barristers and other law practitioners in 

Mauritius and was aimed at sharing perspectives 

on the legal framework governing the conduct 

of enterprises which may be in a position of 

dominance in Mauritius. 

The representatives of the Competition 

Commission laid emphasis on section 46 of the 

Act, which defines the legal test to establish 

dominance and circumstances when the  

[Grab your reader’s attention with a 

great quote from the document or 

use this space to emphasize a key 

point. To place this text box 

anywhere on the page, just drag it.] 
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conduct of enterprises is reviewable by the 

Competition Commission. The primal 

importance of economics was stressed upon. 

Basic knowledge of would-be abstract concepts 

such as the definition of relevant markets, the 

assessment of market power and the 

assessment of competition itself was shared and 

to pique the interest of the audience, simple yet 

effective real-life examples were used. It is 

expected that these efforts will enable 

practitioners to recognise the needs of their 

clients in terms of competition law. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADVOCACY WITH MINISTRIES 

The Competition Commission has planned a 

series of interactive sessions with various 

ministries, regulators and consumer 

associations. The purpose of these sessions is to 

raise awareness on the provisions of the Act and 

disseminate the enforcement works of the 

Competition Commission.  It is also intended to 

serve as a platform to discuss potential 

competition issues that the different 

stakeholders may be facing or be aware of. 

In this context, the Competition Commission 

held interactive sessions with representatives of 

three consumer associations, namely 

Association des Consommateurs de l'Ile Maurice  

 

(ACIM), Consumer Advocacy Platform (CAP) and 

Consumer Eye Association (CEA) on 7th, 8th 

January and 13th March 2019, respectively.   

Moreover, a follow-on session was held on 24th 

April 2019 with the representatives of all three 

consumer organisations. During these 

interactive sessions, the representatives of 

ACIM, CAP and CEA were given the opportunity 

to share their perspectives on potential 

competition issues facing consumers.   

Subsequently, three interactive sessions were 

held on 17th, 25th and 29th January 2019 with 

representatives of the Ministry of Industry, 

Commerce and Consumer Protection, Ministry 

of Health and Quality of Life and Ministry of 

Agro-Industry and Food Security, respectively.  

The purpose of those interactive sessions was to 

discuss the importance of competitive 

assessment in policy making.  Some 50 senior 

officials, including Senior Chief Executives 

attended these sessions.     

 

ADVOCACY WITH ACCOUNTANCY FIRMS 

As part of its outreach activities and to generate 

awareness on the provisions of the Act on 

merger control, the Competition Commission 

has embarked on an advocacy campaign 

designed for accountancy firms. Accountancy 

firms play a key role in, inter alia, their capacity 

as advisors on merger transactions and as 

receiver managers or liquidators, which may in 

turn affect market structure. 

 The aim of the advocacy campaign was to 

emphasise on the importance for the latter firms 

to ensure that corporate transactions on which 

they advise or act upon are compliant with the 

merger control provision of the Act and the  
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procedure to seek the guidance of the 

Competition Commission on such transactions 

when they qualify as a merger situation within 

the meaning of the Act.  

Emphasis was laid on the importance of 

notifying merger transactions (acquisitions of 

shares, take-overs, amalgamations) to the 

Competition Commission even if the Act does 

not impose any such obligation on merging 

parties. The participants were informed about 

the process in place at the Competition 

Commission which facilitates the notification 

process, namely pre-notification consultations 

which help to form a view as to whether a 

particular transaction is notifiable and if so, the 

amount of information which should be 

submitted in support of the notification.  

The key elements in merger control, insight on 

the substantive assessment of merger 

transactions by the Competition Commission 

and the timeline for review as provided for in the 

Act and Competition Guidelines on Mergers 

were also explained to the participants.  

Such focused presentations have been delivered 

by the staff of the Competition Commission to 

the five largest accountancy firms. The 

Competition Commission intends to extend this 

advocacy campaign to other accountancy firms 

in the future, advocating for a more proactive 

role by accountancy firms in ensuring that deals 

they advise upon are compliant with the merger 

control provisions of the Act.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COLLABORATION WITH LE DEFI MEDIA GROUP 

The Competition Commission has 

collaborated with the ‘Le Defi Group’ 

to create better awareness among 

general public.  

From January 2019 to June 2019, six 

articles were published in the ‘Le Defi 

Economie’ which talked about the 

operations of the Competition 

Commission, on and how the 

different behaviours of enterprises 

may affect the consumers amongst 

others. 

The list of articles published are as follows: 

• Consumers: Their role & contribution in 

spotting tell-tale signs of a possible cartel 

• Should financial penalties be introduced for 

abuse of dominance cases in Mauritius? 

• Bid-rigging practices and their harmful 

impact 

• Do we need mandatory merger notification 

in Mauritius? 

• Do refusals to deal or exclusive dealing 

infringe competition law? 

• Globalisation and competition. 
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The Competition Commission considers 

capacity building of prime importance to 

effectively achieve its mission and mandate 

under the Competition Act 2007. The 

Competition Commission has, over its last ten 

years, invested massively in training its 

employees, equipping them with the 

knowledge, skills, and best practices needed in 

the enforcement of competition, in order to 

meet its objectives. This section describes the 

capacity building exercises conducted by the 

Competition Commission for the outgoing 

financial year. 

 

ACF WORKSHOP ON MERGER REVIEW AND 

ANALYSIS - NAIROBI, KENYA, JULY 2018 

In July 2018, the African Competition Forum 

(ACF), in collaboration with the Competition 

Authority of Kenya, organised its capacity-

building workshop on Merger Review and 

analysis for ACF-members’ competition 

enforcers in Nairobi, Kenya.  The workshop 

was designed to develop case handlers’ 

practical and substantive skills employed in the 

analytical framework for merger analysis.  Two 

of the Competition Commission’s newly 

recruited investigative staff had the 

opportunity to participate in the ACF 

Workshop in a learn-and-share environment 

together with peers from the African 

continent.  Participating enforcers were called 

upon to plan and conduct aspects of an 

investigation of a hypothetical merger 

scenario, applying the practical skills and 

substantive concepts discussed during the 

workshop to assess whether and under what 

conditions would they allow, if any, the merger 

transaction to proceed.   

As Co-Chair of the ACF and as part of its 

ongoing cooperative efforts to build capacity 

of ACF members, one of the investigation 

officers of the Competition Commission acted 

as facilitator for this workshop, working 

alongside other experienced attorneys, 

economists, and case handlers from various 

competition authorities, including the United 

States Federal Trade Commission, the 

Competition Commission of South Africa, the 

COMESA Competition Commission, and the 

Competition Authority of Kenya.  

 

WORKSHOP BY MR CHRIS CHAPMAN, 

COMPETITION EXPERT - SEPTEMBER 2018 

In September 2018, the Competition 

Commission held a two-days training for its 

investigative staff, which was delivered by Mr 

Chris Chapman, international expert in 

competition. He is a Senior Associate at 

Clifford Chance London and was previously 

Senior Associate at OFCOM (UK’s 

Communications Regulator).  

The training focused on the different areas of 

competition, such as the challenges in 

assessing market definition, merger control, 

abuse of dominance and cartel investigations, 

and other international trends in competition. 

 

SADC WORKSHOP - DAR ES SALAAM, 

TANZANIA, SEPTEMBER 2018 

The 3rd meeting of the Cartel Working Group 

of the SADC Competition and Consumer Law 

and Policy Committee was held in Dar Es 

Salaam, Tanzania, on 18th September 2018. 

The meeting was followed by a two-day 

training on cartels for the benefit of 

investigators and case handlers of Competition 

Authorities in the SADC region. Two 

investigators from the Competition 

Commission attended the workshop. 
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Our Head Investigations responsible of cartels 

also attended the workshop as facilitator and 

gave a presentation on ‘Preparing for Enter, 

Search and Seize Exercise (Dawn Raids).’ His 

training was mainly a hands-on approach on 

dawn raids, from preparation to execution of 

dawn raids, including drafting of affidavits in 

connection with the application for search 

warrants from a Magistrate. He also facilitated 

a mock dawn raid, which was conducted in a 

specially arranged setting to mimic a real-life 

scenario of a dawn raid in an office 

environment.  

 

The training was attended by around 60 case 

handlers from South Africa, Botswana, Kenya, 

Malawi, Tanzania, Mauritius, Eswatini, 

Seychelles and Zambia amongst other SADC 

member countries.  

 

 
 

ICN CARTEL WORKSHOP - TEL AVIV, ISRAEL, 

OCTOBER 2018 

The annual International Competition Network 

(ICN) Cartel workshop 2018 was held in Israel in 

October and was attended by the Head 

Investigations (Cartels). The theme of the 

workshop was ‘How to crack a cartel step by 

step’.  

This year’s discussions focussed on developing 

the capabilities required to uncover a cartel, and 

the legal issues that require attention at every 

step from the beginning of the investigation 

until the final sentencing. The 3-days workshop 

tackled various issues such as intelligence, 

digital evidence gathering, cloud computing and 

the unique legal challenges faced by agencies 

during legal enforcement. The workshop also 

included a hands-on practice session aimed at 

sharing experience on the conduct of effective 

questioning and dawn raids. 

 

CCC REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON MERGERS - 

EZULWINI, ESWATINI, OCTOBER 2018 

In October 2018, two investigation officers from 

the merger working group attended a two-days 

regional workshop organised by the COMESA 

Competition Commission (CCC) on the theme of 

‘analysing competitive effects and drafting of 

effective remedies in merger investigations and 

public interest issues’ in Eswatini. The workshop 

was led by experts from the United States 

Federal Trade Commission and the COMESA 

Competition Commission. It focussed on 

developing substantive skills of investigation 

officers on merger analysis and drafting of 

effective remedies to address competition and 

public interest concerns.  

The workshop also included practical sessions 

which provided participants the opportunity to 

effectively design remedies following a 

substantive assessment of a theoretical merger 

case. Participants also exchanged their 

experiences based on non-confidential 

information in relation to previous merger 

investigation conducted by their respective 

competition agencies. 
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CCC REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON ANTI-CARTEL 

ENFORCEMENT - EZULWINI, ESWATINI, 

OCTOBER 2018 

Back to back after the mergers workshop, the 

CCC hosted an Anti-Cartel workshop following 

the completion of its anti-cartel project to 

determine a strategy for identifying cartel 

conduct in the COMESA. The workshop 

discussed the formation of a regional network 

on restrictive business practices, its structure 

and its intended mandate. It provided guidance 

to the CCC and member states in developing an 

effective anti-cartel framework and deepening 

cooperation to this end. 

Two officers from the Competition Commission 

attended the workshop, which trained 

participants on the European model for 

cooperation and coordination of enforcement 

activities through the European Competition 

Network (ECN) and the then forthcoming ECN+. 

Discussions were also held on investigative tools 

and leniency. 

The outcome of the workshop was the 

recognition that, forming a regional network will 

allow for the member states to set enforcement 

priorities in the region, facilitate cohesive 

investigations and inquiries, and further ensure 

a uniform approach to investigations. 

 

ICN UNILATERAL CONDUCT WORKSHOP – 

STELLENBOSCH, SOUTH AFRICA, NOVEMBER 

2018 

The 2018 ICN Unilateral Conduct Workshop was 

held in November in South Africa and hosted by 

the Competition Commission of South Africa.  

The Head Investigations responsible of 

Unilateral Conduct at the Competition 

Commission attended the workshop. The 

primary objectives of workshop were to 

examine the challenges involved in analysing 

unilateral conduct of dominant firms and firms 

with substantial market power, facilitate greater 

understanding of the issues involved in 

analysing unilateral conduct, and to promote 

greater convergence and sound enforcement of 

laws governing unilateral conduct. 

 

ICN MERGER WORKSHOP – TOKYO, JAPAN, 

NOVEMBER 2018 

The ICN 15th Merger Workshop was around the 

theme "Merger Review in the 2020s: Do 

digitalisation and globalisation change the 

analysis?" The Head Investigations responsible 

of Mergers at the Competition Commission 

attended the workshop. During the workshop 

the challenges that competition agencies face in 

the advent of globalization and digitalization 

were discussed, with emphasis on the extent to 

which competition laws are adapted to factor 

these challenges and tools that can be used for 

such assessment. Of further interest was the 

discussion on notification policies, which has 

brought various elements into light which can be 

factored in the event of a change in the 

notification regime of Mauritius. The workshop 

also covered other important subjects for 

merger review like global mergers and assessing 

non-price effects among others. 

 

INTERNAL WORKSHOP TO REVIEW MISSION 

AND VISION OF THE COMMISSION 

In the context of the 10th year of the 

institution, the office of the Executive Director 

decided to conduct a reflection to review the 

core ideology of the Competition Commission, 

its core purpose/mission, the core values and 

the vision going forwards. A one-day workshop 

was held on the 15th of May for staff to harness 

collective group thinking so as to develop a
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new mission and vision statement and gain 

the commitment of teams to actively pursue 

this new vision and focus forwards. The 

workshop was led by Mr Benoit Maingard of 

Maingard and Associates Ltd, a company 

specializing in Organizational Development, 

group facilitation & training. The exercise 

was a combination of team structured 

activities, open discussions and 

brainstorming sessions. It created a positive 

environment for the free flow of ideas and 

constructive discussions among staff to work 

towards the identified objectives.  

At the end of the workshop, the targeted 

outcomes achieved were a new mission, vision 

and a tag line for the Competition Commission. 

 

TEAM BUILDING 

As an employer, the Competition Commission 

is committed towards continuously 

encouraging team-working atmosphere of 

mutual respect and support. The Competition 

Commission organised its annual team-

building activity in December 2018 in order to 

develop and encourage team spirit among 

staff.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

CCC REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON RESTRICTIVE 

BUSINESS PRACTICES - NAIROBI, KENYA, JUNE 

2019 

In June 2019, three investigation officers of the 

Competition Commission attended the CCC 

Regional Workshop on restrictive business 

practices in Nairobi, Kenya. The workshop 

aimed at building the capacity of case handlers 

who investigate anti-competitive business 

practices on a day to day basis, by enhancing 

their abilities in planning for an investigation, 

conducting the investigations and reporting. 

The training covered a range of topics, 

beginning with an overview of the restrictive 

business practices, investigation tools and 

techniques to equip case handlers with 

methodology for conducting investigations 

depending on the type of conduct under 

review. 
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This section presents the strategic plan of the 

Competition Commission in the enforcement of 

the Competition Act 2007 (the ‘Act’) for the 

benefit of consumers, businesses, and the 

economy. 

 

ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES 

Under the Act, the Competition Commission is 

provided with powers to investigate restrictive 

business practices, namely cartels, unilateral 

conduct and anticompetitive mergers. As such, 

investigative actions are the core activities of 

the Competition Commission in the 

enforcement of the Act, for the ultimate 

interests of consumers, businesses and the 

Mauritian economy at large.  

 

The Competition Commission will continue to 

enforce the Act rigorously while improving its 

enforcement efficacy over the long-term, 

yielding consumer benefits well in excess of the 

costs of the organisation. Investigations will be 

carried out indiscriminately into all sectors of 

the economy where restrictive business 

practices exist. It will also continue to advise 

Government on competition matters to 

reinforce a pro-competitive environment and to 

create a more efficient economy.  

 

The Competition Commission expects, on an 

annual average, to complete some 15 enquiries, 

3 to 5 investigations with one market study, 

review some 12 Merger Notifications and 

exemption requests of restrictive agreements 

within the COMESA, and provide advice to the 

government on competition matters. 

 

With a view to proactively detect potential 

restrictive business practices, the Competition 

Commission is also envisaging to reinforce its 

enforcement team so as to undertake market 

research and market intelligence, for better 

detection of competition issues. The assistance 

of experts in competition from experienced 

authorities to assist in furthering the efficiency 

and effectiveness with which the Competition 

Commission conducts it investigations is also 

being considered. 

 

The Competition Commission is now organised 

into working groups, with each working group 

focusing on a specific restrictive business 

practice, to better build the technical capacity of 

its staff and consequently improve on delivery 

and efficiency during investigations. Several 

projects are planned on a yearly basis to 

improve on the delivery of each group’s 

objective. The Merger Working Group will work 

towards improving effectiveness of merger 

control by improving merger identification 

mechanism and building a more robust merger 

assessment framework, while advocating for a 

change in merger notification regime. With a 

view to promote pro-competitive policy making, 

the Unilateral Conduct Group will work with 

government agencies and sector regulators to 

encourage and equip them to undertake 

competitive assessment of regulatory measures. 

The Cartel Working Group will further its 

collaboration with the Procurement Policy 

Office and the Central Procurement Board with 

a view to detecting and deterring bid rigging 

practices across high-impact markets. 

 

The Competition Commission is also acquiring a 

Case Management System (CMS) that will 

centrally manage critical data relating to its 

enforcement activities. The system will manage 

and store data, provide investigative staff with 



 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 
 

46 

STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS (contd.) 

 

an effective and efficient project management 

tool, and provide for a management information 

system. This will increase the efficiency and 

effectiveness of investigation processes, 

resource allocation, and management of data 

and information, and ultimately contribute 

towards improving the effectiveness and 

efficiency of the institution. 

  

ADVOCACY ACTIVITIES 

Another mandate of the Competition 

Commission under the Act is to promote the 

provisions of the law and its activities. The 

Competition Commission recognises that 

advocacy is an important tool to inculcate a 

competition culture amongst businesses and the 

general public in Mauritius. Since its inception, it 

has endeavoured through various ways and 

means to disseminate the role and works of the 

Competition Commission.  

 

For the years ahead, the Competition 

Commission will be developing further advocacy 

plans that would target all stakeholders, from 

large businesses to small and medium 

enterprises, students and the public in general. 

It includes amongst others:  

 

• Delivery of advocacy sessions among 

professionals, such as legal practitioners, to 

apprise them of anti-competitive 

behaviours. 

• Delivery of short and targeted one-on-one 

advocacy sessions to enterprises for them to 

know more about the work of the 

Competition Commission and the type of 

restrictive business practices which it 

investigates. 

 

 

• Working sessions with public bodies and 

regulators to promote and adopt a pro-

competition mindset in public policymaking. 

• Development of a working relationship with 

the University of Mauritius with a view to 

promote competition topics among 

university students. 

• Develop and disseminate one-pager guides 

on different competition topics. 

• Online training programme for employees 

of enterprises on basic concepts of 

competition law and the do’s and don’ts of 

the Act. 

• Establishing working relationship with large 

groups in Mauritius with a view to 

encourage them to file merger notification. 

• Advocacy campaigns to promote voluntary 

merger notifications in the form of email 

campaigns, media release/press articles and 

meetings.  

• Issue of a biannual newsletter to provide 

stakeholders with fresh updates on the work 

being conducted by the Competition 

Commission and developments in 

competition around the globe. 

• Issue of competition-related articles in the 

press to enlighten the general public on 

competition. 

 

CAPACITY BUILDING 

The Competition Commission considers it 

essential to foster an organisational culture that 

encourages continuous learning and 

professional development that would ensure 

high standards of service. As such, it will 

continue investing in its personnel and 

strengthening its capabilities through various  
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capacity building programmes which will 

include, amongst others: 

 

• Regular knowledge sharing sessions 

among staff on key competition issues 

and contribution towards debates and 

sharing of ideas. 

• Collaboration with foreign universities in 

terms of training and consultative services 

related to the various aspects of 

investigation and market studies. 

• In-house training by foreign experts in the 

several fields of competition economics 

and law. 

• Sponsorships of post graduate diplomas in 

competition economics and law. 

• Attendance to overseas workshop and 

specialised institutes on competition. 

• Secondments to more experienced 

competition authorities. 

• Productivity training courses.  

 

INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION 

The Executive Director is also entrusted, under 

section 30 (i) of the Act, with the function of 

liaising and exchanging information, 

knowledge and expertise with competition 

authorities in other countries, entrusted with 

functions similar to those of the Competition 

Commission. In this regard, the Competition 

Commission has signed five Memorandum of 

Understandings with competition authorities 

around the globe. Those bilateral agreements 

enable the Competition Commission, amongst 

others, to: 

 

• exchange views and experience on 

competition policy issues. 

 

 

• expand expertise in the field of case 

investigations. 

• notify each other of enforcement matters 

of common interest. 

• exchange staff through secondments for 

the purpose of improving skills. 

 

Mauritius, being Member of the COMESA, the 

Competition Commission also collaborates 

with the COMESA Competition Commission 

(CCC) on competition matters. The 

collaboration takes the form of review of 

merger occurring among COMESA states and 

affecting Mauritius, as well as assessments of 

exemption requests for restrictive 

agreements. As the CCC increases its 

enforcement actions across the COMESA, so 

will the collaboration of the Competition 

Commission. 

 

The Competition Commission is engaged with 

the African Competition Forum (ACF) to 

undertake market studies across the ACF’s 

states. A review of the market structures and 

the regulatory framework within the aviation 

sector has started. The study will aim at 

assessing the conditions of competition in the 

market and identify any potential constraints 

and come up with recommendations. 

 

The Competition Commission is working 

towards the adoption of a regional 

competition policy at the level of Tripartite FTA 

(that is COMESA-SADC-EAC) and the CFTA 

(Continental Free Trade Area).  It is fully 

involved and actively participating in the 

formulation draft competition protocol for 

Tripartite FTA and CFTA.  
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REGULATORY FRAMEWORK REVIEW  

 

After ten years enforcing the Act, the 

Competition Commission has identified several 

shortcomings and areas that need 

reinforcement in the law. To remedy those 

shortcomings and to be in line with international 

good practices and other regional 

commitments, the Competition Commission is 

undertaking a thorough review of the Act, its 

Rules of Procedure and various guidelines. 

 

 

 

Such a review will make the Act more efficient 

and better equipped to tackle restrictive 

business practices, which are Collusive 

Agreements, Anticompetitive Mergers, and 

Unilateral Conduct.  

 

A foreign consultant is presently reviewing the  

Act and the Competition Commission will 

engage with the parent ministry and the State 

Law Office to discuss and finalise the proposed 

amendments. 
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The notes on pages 60 to 72 form part of these financial statements 
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

for the year ended 30 June 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING REVENUE

Revenue grant from government 48,892,400      45,422,580       

Other operating revenue 14 -                      3,865                  

Total revenue 48,892,400      45,426,445       

OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff cost 15 29,700,226      26,269,828       

Commissioners' fee 3,516,377         4,556,580         

Training and Sponsorship 814,875            959,496             

Cooperation other authorities 2,500                 204,424             

Public education and information programme 130,676            64,763               

Overseas visits 1,853,729         1,891,006         

Professional fees 1,701,447         730,095             

Rent and utilities 16 3,661,484         3,642,333         

Other operating expenses 17 1,744,499         1,758,443         

Depreciation and amortisation 6 & 7 1,670,020         1,164,166         

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets (21,000)             12,804               

Total expenses 44,774,833      41,253,938       

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 4,117,567         4,172,507         

The notes on pages 60 to 72 form part of these financial statements 
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2019

Revaluation 

Surplus
General fund Total

Rs.

Balance as at 01 July 2017 1,085,969         12,326,605      13,412,574      

Prior year adjustment (Note 19) (5,660,775)       (5,660,775)       

1,085,969         6,665,830         7,751,799         

Transfer to General Fund (230,119)           230,119            -                      

Surplus for the year -                      4,172,507         4,172,507         

Balance as at 30  June 2018 855,850            11,068,456      11,924,306      

Balance as at 01 July 2018 855,850            11,068,456      11,924,306      

Surplus for the year -                      4,117,567         4,117,567         

Balance as at 30  June 2019 855,850            15,186,023      16,041,873      

-                      

The notes on pages 60 to 72 form part of these financial statements 
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Note Rs. Rs.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net (deficit)/surplus for the year 4,117,567          4,172,507        

Adjustments for:-

Staff Cost - Retirement benefit obligations 11 (1,650,359)         (1,581,870)       

Depreciation and amortisation 6 & 7 1,670,020          1,164,166        

Provision for refundable Leaves 10 1,370,720          1,032,830        

(Gain)/Loss on disposal of fixed assets (21,000)               12,804              

Operating surplus before working capital changes 5,486,948          4,800,437        

(Increase)/decrease in receivables 513,112              (104,639)          

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (47,582)               114,338            

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (148,478)            (8,099)               

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (6,435,625)         3,160,586        

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 2,271                   (369,455)          

Cash flow from operating activities (629,354)            7,593,168        

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 6 (617,182)            (5,827,798)       

Proceeds from sale of equipment 21,000                15,923              

Car loans granted to staff 5 (1,000,000)         -                     

Loans Refunded to Accountant General 5 (832,609)            (1,134,615)       

Cash used in investing activities (2,428,791)         (6,946,490)       

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Deferred income - COMESA Merger Fees 12 15,903,900        -                     

Loans received from Accountant General 5 1,000,000          -                     

Loans repaid by staff 5 832,609              1,134,615        

Cash inflow from financing activities 17,736,509        1,134,615        

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 14,678,364        1,781,293        

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4 17,917,674        16,136,381      

32,596,038        17,917,674      

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 32,596,038        17,917,674      

The notes on pages 60 to 72 form part of these financial statements 
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

Original 

Budget

Revised 

Budget
 Actual paid 

 Financial 

Statements 

Explanation on material differences 

between Original Budget and 

Financial Statement  Figures

Expenditures Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Staff cost 29,720,000    31,365,000   31,240,291   29,700,226   

 Increase in for refund of leaves and 

unbudgeted payments in favour of one 

officer on interdiction 

Commissioners' fees 4,555,000      4,555,000     3,516,377     3,516,377      Chairperson position was vacant 

Training and Sponsorship 1,500,000      880,000         696,063         814,875         

 Less costly options obtained and 

secondments provided for not 

conducted 

Cooperation other authorities 150,000          25,000           2,500              2,500               No major cooperation activites 

Public education and information 

programme
450,000          150,000         130,676         130,676         

 Less costly advocacy programmes 

conducted 

Overseas visits 2,100,000      2,030,000     1,921,948     1,853,729      Lesser subsistence allowance 

Professional fees 2,325,000      1,725,000     1,693,947     1,701,447     
 Lesser need for professional services 

such as IT Forensic Services  

Electricity 350,000          350,000         347,900         347,900          - 

Telephone 300,000          315,000         263,155         313,673          Increase in requirements  

Office rent 2,760,000      2,760,000     2,759,892     2,759,892      - 

Other rent 10,000            20,000           -                  16,248            - 

Parking facilities 225,000          225,000         223,771         223,771          - 

Advertising 125,000          140,000         146,697         138,532          Increase in requirements  

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses 300,000          300,000         208,978         217,083          Decrease in requirements 

Office repairs and maintenance 100,000          100,000         54,198           47,041            Decrease in requirements 

Cleaning services 215,000          215,000         213,728         213,728          - 

Insurance 30,000            30,000           25,006           8,324               Decrease in requirements 

Stationeries and consumables 300,000          300,000         401,209         246,220          Decrease in requirements 

Books, Periodicals and Publications 150,000          150,000         111,774         92,435            Decrease in requirements 

Postage 25,000            30,000           28,178           29,154            - 

Bank charges 20,000            20,000           17,039           17,154            - 

Other office expenses 140,000          165,000         142,587         164,932          Increase in requirements  

IT expenses 650,000          650,000         613,122         569,896          Decrease in requirements 

Capital expenditures 2,500,000      2,392,400     617,182         617,182         

 Implementation of Case Management 

System delayed and payment not 

effected 

49,000,000    48,892,400   45,376,218   43,742,995   

-                  

For the purpose of the above comparison, depreciation and amortisation figures in the Financial Statement have been replaced by the 

actual capital spending on property, plant, equipment and intangible assets. These are presented under the item Capital expenditures.

The notes on pages 60 to 72 form part of these financial statements 
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General information

(a) Legal form and objectives

The Competition Commission is mandated, among others, to:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

2. Accounting policies

(a) Basis  of  preparation

(b) Going Concern

(c) Presentation currency

for the year ended 30 June 2019

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment in which the entity operates. The financial statements are presented in Mauritian Rupees,

which is the Competition Commission's measurement currency.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis and the accounting policies have

been applied consistently throughout the year. They have been prepared on the historical cost basis,

adjusted for revaluation of assets.

The Competition Commission is a statutory body established in 2009, running under the aegis of the

Ministry of Financial Services and Good Governance, to enforce the Competition Act 2007. The Act

established a competition regime in Mauritius, under which the Competition Commission can investigate

possible anticompetitive behavior by businesses.

keep the operation of markets in Mauritius and the conditions of competition in those markets under

constant review; 

 investigate any suspected breach of the prohibition of restrictive agreements;

undertake general studies on the effectiveness of competition in individual sectors of the economy in

Mauritius;

liaise and exchange information, knowledge and expertise with competition authorities in other

countries entrusted with functions similar to those of the Commission;

advise the Minister on international agreements relevant to competition matters and to this Act; and

publish and otherwise promote and advertise the provisions of the Act and the activities of the

Commission. 

The financial statements of the Competition Commission have been prepared in accordance with the

International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs), issued by the International Public Sector

Accounting Board (IPSASB) which is a Board of the International Federation of Accountants Committee

(IFAC).

Where an IPSAS does not address a particular issue, the appropriate International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRSs) and International Accounting Standards (IASs) issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board are applied.

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Competition Commission are as follows:
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

2. Accounting policies  (cont'd)

(d) Revenue recognition

(e) Expenses

All expenses have been accounted on an accrual basis.

(f) Inventories

(g) Accounts receivable

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

(i) Foreign currency transactions

(j) Accounts payable

(k) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Capitalisation policy

Property, plant and equipment costing Rs 5,000 and less is expensed in the Statement of Financial

Performance. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value. For the purposes

of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash in hand and bank balances.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Mauritian Rupees at the exchange rate ruling at the

date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at

the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date and gains or losses on translation are recognised in the

Statement of Financial Performance.

Accounts payable are stated at their fair value.

Revenue comprises mainly of government grants. It is recognised to the extent that it is probable that

economic benefits will flow to the organisation and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value, reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated

irrecoverable amounts.

Inventories consist of stationeries and consumables, and are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost comprises of all costs that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present

location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less the estimated cost

to be incurred in selling.

Grants received to meet recurrent expenditure and to finance capital expenditure are recognised in the

Statement of Financial Performance in the year received.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any identified

impairment loss. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. 
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

2. Accounting policies  (cont'd)

(k) Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

(ii) Depreciation policy

Furniture and fittings 10 years

Office equipment 8 - 10 years

IT equipment 4 - 8 years

Motor vehicles 8 years

(iii) Disposal

(l) Intangible assets

(m) Revaluation

(n) Impairment

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the property, plant and equipment in the Statement of

Financial Performance. Depreciation is calculated as from the date of acquisition on a straight line basis

and over the expected useful lives of the assest as provided below. 

On retirement or disposal of a revalued asset, the whole revaluation surplus in respect of that asset is

transferred directly to the General Fund.

IT Software costs are recognised as intangible assets and amortized in the Statement of Financial

Performance using the straightline method over their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 years.

At each reporting date, the Competition Commission reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of

the impairment loss, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying

amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately

in the Statement of Financial Performance, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in

which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

The gains or losses arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is

determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in Statement of Financial Performance.

If the carrying amount of a class of assets is decreased, the decrease is recognised in surplus or deficit.

However the decrease is directly debited to revaluation surplus to the extent of any credit balance

existing in the revaluation surplus in respect of that class of assets.

Capitalised items prior to 2016 costing Rs 5,000 or less as well as those to be disposed are not subject to

revaluation.

Assets are revalued internally and is recognised provided the change in the value of a class of assets

exceeds 10%. Increase in carrying amount of a class of assets is credited directly to revaluation surplus.

However, the increase is recognised in surplus or deficit to the extent that it reverses a revaluation

decrease of the same class of assets previously recognised in surplus or deficit.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

2. Accounting policies (cont'd)

(n) Impairment (cont'd)

(o) Lease

(p) Employee benefits

(i) Retirement benefits under defined benefit pension scheme

(ii)  Retirement benefits under defined contribution pension scheme

(iii) Family protection scheme

(iv) State Pension Plan

Contributions to the National Pension Scheme on behalf of probationary and contract employees are

expensed in the statement of financial performance in the period in which they fall due.

For employees holding a permanent and pensionable post, a Family Protection Scheme has been set up and

managed by SICOM Ltd; the Competition Commission and employees each contribute 2% to the scheme. 

The Competition Commission has a lease agreement for the occupation of the 10th floor at Hennessy Court

for office  purposes.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the

revised estimate of its recoverable amount so that the increase in carrying amount does not exceed the

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in

prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial

Performance, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

A defined contribution pension scheme has been set up for new entrants as from 1 January 2013, following

amendments to the Statutory Bodies Pension Funds Act 1978. Contibutions to the scheme by the

Competition Commission are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the period to which it

relates.

The present value of defined benefit obligations is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position as a

non-current liability or non-current asset after adjusting for fair value of plan assets.

The current service cost and any unrecognised past service cost are included as an expense together with

the associated interest cost, net of expected return on plan assets.

As per provisions made under the Statutory Bodies Pension Funds Act, the Competition Commission is a

pensionable office. It operates both a defined benefit scheme and a defined contribution scheme. The

schemes are partly funded by the Competition Commission (12%) and the employees (6%). Its assets are

managed by the State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd.

Under the defined benefit scheme, the cost of providing the benefit is determined in accordance with

actuarial review.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

2. Accounting policies  (cont'd)

(p) Employee benefits  (cont'd)

(v) Employee leave entitlement

(vi) Staff car loan

(q) Employee disclosure

(r) Provisions

(s) Contingent Liabilities

(t) Related parties

A provision is also made in respect of accumulated vacation leaves at the end of the financial year in the

Financial Statements.  

Employees are entitled to refundable annual and/or sick leave as may be defined in the terms and

conditions of their contract of employment. Any balance of accumulated refundable annual/sick leaves is

valued at the end of the financial year and is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Members of staff are granted car loans, via the Accountant General, as per conditions stipulated in the

Human Resources Manual of the Competition Commission. Outstanding capital on loan due to the

Accountant General is disclosed into its accounts as liablities, as the onus of ensuring reimbursement is

transferred to the Competition Commission. Amount due by staff are disclosed into its accounts as assets.

Amount refunded by staff are immediately repaid to the Accountant General, such that amount of capital

due by staff is equivalent to the amount due to the Accountant General .

Transactions undertaken with related parties, if any,  were carried at commercial terms and conditions.

Provisions are recognised when the Competition Commission has a present obligation as a result of a past

events, and it is probable that it will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at

Competition Commission best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the

Statement of Financial Position date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

As at 30 June 2019, the Competition Commission had 26 employees: 19 were employed on a permanent

and pensionable basis, with 5 still on probation and 1 on interdiction with pay since May 2015; 1 was

employed on contractual basis.

As at 30 June 2019, a sum of Rs 1m had been approved for the settlement of possible legal charges and

damages relating to a case lodged against former Executive Director, Dr. Sean Ennis, during the

performance of his duty.

At the date of reporting, an amount of Rs 201,696 had been paid and there is no clear indication whether

the balancing figure of Rs 798,304 will be used.

Parties are considered to be related to the Competition Commission if they have the ability, directly or

indirectly, to exercise significant influence over its financial and operating decisions-making process.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

2. Accounting policies  (cont'd)

(u) Risk management policies

(i) Financial Risk

(i) Operational risk management

(ii) Legal risk

-

-

-

3. Accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies.

Risk management is considered essential by the Competition Commission to ensure achievement of its

objectives. A proper risk management system enables organisations to proactively identify potential risks

and apply well-defined strategies to avoid or mitigate exposure to risks. The institution adopts a

conservative approach to risk management. A description of the significant risk factors are given below

together with any relevant risk management policies:

The Competition Commission is not much exposed to financial risks. It does not use any derivative financial

instruments to hedge risk exposures. It is not exposed to credit risk, currency risk and interest

rate risk.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IPSAS requires management to exercise judgement in

the process of applying the accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions

that may affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Judgements and estimates are

continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations and

assumptions concerning future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual

results could, by definition therefore, often differ from the related accounting estimates.

The institution identifies and manages such risks through its internal legal team, the support of an external

lawyer as and when required, and the State Law Office.

the possibility of civil claims (including acts or other events which may lead to litigation or other

disputes);

Operational risk is a risk of direct and indirect loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal controls,

operational processes or the system that supports them, or external events. It is recognised that such risks

can never be entirely eliminated but the Competition Commission recognises its duty to ensure that

operational risk is well mitigated and properly managed.

Legal risk is the risk that the business activities of the Competition Commission have unintended or

unexpected legal consequences. It includes risks arising from :

inadequate documentation, legal or regulatory incapacity, insufficient authority of a counterparty and

uncertainty about the validity or enforceability of a contract in counterparty insolvency;

actual or potential violations of law or regulation (including activities unauthorised for the Competition

Commission and which may attract a civil or criminal fine or penalty);
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

4. Cash and cash equivalents Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Cash at bank 32,587,306      17,911,895         

Cash in hand 407                     -                         

Petty cash balance 8,326                 5,779                    

32,596,039      17,917,674         

5. Staff car loan Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Opening balance 2,615,500         3,750,115            

Loan granted to staff, via the Accountant General 1,000,000         -                         

Loan refunded by staff and consequently to the Accountant General (832,609)           (1,134,615)          

Closing balance 2,782,891         2,615,500            

Analysed as follows:

Short-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable within one year 967,847            737,371               

Long-Term staff car loan - Receivable/Payable after one year 1,815,043         1,878,129            

2,782,890         2,615,500            

0.20-                   

6. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture & 

fittings

Office 

equipment
IT equipment Motor vehicles Total

Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Cost

At  01 July 2018 2,217,437         1,536,051         2,795,046         5,470,150         12,018,684         

Additions 617,182            617,182               

Disposal (366,473)           (366,473)              

At 30 June 2019 2,217,437         1,536,051         3,045,755         5,470,150         12,269,393         

-                      0                         -                      -                      

Depreciation

At  01 July 2018 1,100,958         962,831            1,319,156         269,718            3,652,663            

Charge for the year 211,817            127,448            550,781            683,769            1,573,815            

Disposal (366,473)           (366,473)              

At 30 June 2019 1,312,775         1,090,279         1,503,464         953,487            4,860,005            

1                         -                      -                      1                         

Net book value

At 30 June 2018 1,116,479         573,220            1,475,890         5,200,432         8,366,021            

At 30 June 2019 904,662            445,772            1,542,291         4,516,663         7,409,388            

(0)                        0                         -                      (1)                        
Note: The Competition Commission is of the opinion that the net book value of the property, plant and equipment

approximates its fair value.

No interest is earned on bank deposits; the fair value of cash is Rs32,596,153 (2018: Rs17,917,674).
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

7. Intangible assets IT Software

Rs.

Cost

At  01 July 2018 375,250                    

At 30 June 2019 375,250                    

-                             

Amortisation

At  01 July 2018 96,205                      

Charge for the year 96,205                      

At 30 June 2019 192,410                    

-                             

Net book value

At 30 June 2019 182,840                    

At 30 June 2018 279,045                    

8. Inventories Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 Jun 

2018

Rs. Rs.

Stationeries 430,982            286,495                    

Consumables 9,738                 5,747                         

440,720            292,242                    

9. Trade and other payables Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 Jun 

2018

Rs. Rs.

Trade creditors 167,663            1,489,029                

Accruals 23,523               5,137,782                

191,186            6,626,811                

10. Employee obligations Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 Jun 

2018

Rs. Rs.

Current liabilities - Payable within one year

Provision for gratuity 123,042            122,843                    

Provision for passage benefits 1,064,370         921,264                    

Provision for refundable leaves (see below) 1,162,790         1,303,824                

2,350,202         2,347,931                

Refundable leaves payable:

Current liabilities - Payable within one year 1,162,790         1,303,824                

Non-current liabilities - Payable after one year 8,448,188         7,077,468                

9,610,978         8,381,292                
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

11. Retirement benefit obligations

Amounts recognised in statement of financial position at the end of the 

period
30 Jun 2019 30 Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Present value of funded obligation 15,850,652      14,594,749       

Fair value of plan assets (17,464,246)     (14,557,984)      

Liability recognised in statement of financial position at end of year (1,613,594)       36,765               

Amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income:

Service Cost:

Current service cost 1,306,466         1,280,223         

(Employee contributions) (799,792)           (755,455)            

Fund expenses 88,149               55,716               

Net Interest expense/(revenue) (76,601)             37,653               

P&L Charge 518,222            618,137             

Remeasurement

Liability (gain)/loss (1,023,100)       171,748             

Assets (gain)/loss 454,102            (860,846)            

Net Assets/Equity (NAE) (568,998)           (689,098)            

Total (50,776)             (70,961)              

Movement in liability recognised in statement of financial position:

At start of year 36,765               1,618,635         

Amount recognised in P&L 518,222            618,137             

(Contributions paid by employer) (1,599,583)       (1,510,909)        

Amount recognised in NAE (568,998)           (689,098)            

At end of year (1,613,594)       36,765               

The Competition Commission operates a defined pension benefit scheme for qualifying employees which

is held and administered independently by SICOM Ltd. Under the scheme, the employees are entitled to

retirement benefits at 66.6 per cent of their final salary on attainment of retirement age. The schemes are

funded schemes.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit

obligation were carried out at 30 June 2019 by SICOM Ltd.

The plan is a defined benefit arrangement for the employees and it is a funded plan. The assets of the 

funded plan are held independently and administered by The State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd.



 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 
 

69 

 

  

COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

11. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd) 30 Jun 2019 30 Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation

Present value of obligation at start of year 14,594,749      12,328,908              

Current service cost 1,306,466         1,280,223                

Interest cost 1,021,632         863,024                    

(Benefits paid) (49,095)             (49,154)                     

Liability (gain)/loss (1,023,100)       171,748                    

Present value of obligation at end of year 15,850,652      14,594,749              

Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at start of year 14,557,984      10,710,273              

Expected return on plan assets 1,098,233         825,371                    

Employer contributions 1,599,583         1,510,909                

Employee contributions 799,792            755,455                    

(Benefits paid + other outgo) (137,244)           (104,870)                  

Asset (loss) / gain (454,102)           860,846                    

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 17,464,246      14,557,984              

Distribution of plan assets at end of year Jun-19 Jun-18

Percentage of assets at end of year

Government securities and cash 58.70% 59.50%

Loans 3.40% 3.70%

Local equities 13.10% 14.60%

Overseas bonds and equities 24.20% 21.60%

Property 0.60% 0.60%

Total 100.00% 100.00%

Additional disclosure on assets issued or used by the reporting entity Jun-19 Jun-18

Percentage of assets at end of year        

Assets held in the entity's own financial instruments 0.00% 0.00%

Property occupied by the entity 0.00% 0.00%

Other assets used by the entity 0.00% 0.00%

Components of the amount recognised in NAE Jun-19 Jun-18

Asset experience gain/(loss) during the year (454,102)           860,846                    

Liability experience gain/ (loss) during the year 1,023,100         (171,748)                  

568,998            689,098                    

Expected employer contributions for year ending 30 June 2020:  Rs 1,659,960

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 29 years

(Calculated as a % change in PV of liabilities for a 1% change in discount rate)
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

11. Retirement benefit obligations (cont'd)

30 Jun 2019 30 Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Discount rate 7.00% 7.00%

Future salary increases 4.50% 4.50%

Future pension increases 3.50% 3.50%

Mortality before retirement

Mortality in retirement Pa 90 Tables
Pa 90 Tables rated 

down by 2 years

Retirement age

The discount rate is determined by reference to market yields on bonds.

12. Deferred income

Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 Jun 

2018

Rs. Rs.

Opening balance -                           -                            

Amount received during the year 15,903,900            -                            

Amount used during the year -                           -                            

Closing balance 15,903,900            -                            

Deferred income comprises of merger filing fees received from the COMESA and is held strictly for the purpose of

capacity building and strengthening of the law programmes, as defined by the COMESA rules. The fund are

amortised in the Statement of Financial Position to match expenses intended for, that is, as defined under the

COMESA rules.

The plan is exposed to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk. The

risk relating to death in service benefits is re-insured.

The cost of providing the benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Method. The principal assumptions used

for the purpose of the actuarial valuation were as follows:

A 6770 Ultimate Tables

As per second Schedule in the 

Statutory Bodies Pension Funds Act

Significant actuarial assumptions for determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate, expected

salary increase and mortality.The sensitivity analysIs below have been determined based reasonably on possible

changes of the assumptions occuring at the end of the reporting period.

- If the discount rate would be 100 basis points (one percent) higher (lower), the defined benefit obligation 

would decrease by Rs 3.9M (increase by Rs 5.3M) if all other assumptions were held unchanged.

- If the expected salary growth would increase (decrease) by 100 basis points, the defined benefit obligation 

would increase by Rs 3.8M (decrease by Rs 3.1M) if all assumptions were held unchanged.

- If life expectancy would increase (decrease) by one year, the defined benefit obligation would increase by 

Rs0.4M (decrease by Rs 0.4M) if all assumptions were held unchanged.

In reality one might expect interrelationships between the assumptions, especially between discount rate and

expected salary increases, given that both depends to a certain extent on expected inflation rates. The analysis

above abstracts from these interdependence between the assumptions.
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COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

13. Operating lease

Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Payable within one year 2,069,919         1,483,813        

Payable after one year 6,209,757         -                     

8,279,676         1,483,813        

14. Other operating revenue Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Sundry Income -                      3,865                

-                      3,865                

15. Staff cost Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Salary 19,315,544      17,634,506      

Allowances 2,630,909         2,149,325        

End of Year Bonus 1,392,366         1,235,436        

Travelling 1,965,516         1,807,942        

Pension 663,949            488,226            

Gratuities 493,720            492,900            

Passage benefits 764,799            695,625            

Refund of leaves 1,978,992         1,351,194        

Staff Insurance Schemes 384,836            354,171            

Staff Welfare 109,595            43,592              

Stipend to Trainees -                      16,911              

29,700,226      26,269,828      

16. Rent and utilities Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Electricity 347,900            352,590            

Telephone 313,673            294,959            

Office Rent 2,759,892         2,763,592        

Other Rent 16,248               45,627              

Parking facilities 223,771            185,565            

3,661,484         3,642,333        

The future minimum lease payments under the operating lease agreement for the occupation of floor

spaces at Hennessy Court for office  purposes are as follows:



 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019 
 

72 

 

  

COMPETITION COMMISSION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2019

17. Other operating expenses Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Advertising 138,532            186,593            

Fuel and motor vehicle expenses 217,083            218,459            

Office repairs and maintenance 47,041               54,797              

Cleaning services 213,728            210,450            

Insurance 8,324                 16,053              

Stationeries and consumables 246,220            280,942            

Books, Periodicals and Publications 92,435               73,313              

Postage 29,154               25,865              

Bank charges 17,154               15,132              

Other office expenses 164,932            245,486            

IT Expenses 569,896            431,353            

1,744,499         1,758,443        

18. Related party transactions

Key management personnel

Year ended 30 

Jun 2019

Year ended 30 

Jun 2018

Rs. Rs.

Total emoluments and benefits of key management personnel 8,011,949         8,967,761        

Other Fringe Benefits

19. Prior year adjustments

Changes following adoption of IPSAS 39

(ii)  Further to amendment at (i) above, the Retirement Benefits Obligations, which stood at Rs 1,618,635 

(liability) at 30 June 2017 in the Statement of Financial Position, has been reviewed downward to Rs 

36,765 following actuarial valuation as 30 June 2018, with necesary adjustment made in the Statement 

of Financial Performance.

Key management personnel are persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and

controlling the activities of the Commission.

The Executive Director benefitted from the exclusive use of an official car provided by the Compeition

Commission in January 2018. 

With the adoption of IPSAS 39 Employee Benefits, the following adjustments were made to the financial

statements with effect from 30 June 2017:

(i) Under IPSAS 25, an asset to the tune of Rs 4,042,140 was recognised in the Statement of Financial 

Position under Retirement Benefits Obligations as at 30 June 2017. With the adoption of IPSAS 39, this 

led to a liability of Rs1,618,635 . Consequently, Accumulated Surplus/Deficit (General Fund) was 

decreased by Rs5,660,775 and Retirement Benefits Obligations increased by the same amount for the 

year ending 30 June 2017.
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